# People behind pixels: An exploration of working conditions, representation and government support in the Dutch video game industry

Student Name: Swati Suman Student Number: 541271

Supervisor: Anne-Sophie Radermecker Second reader: Joobin Ordoobody

Master Cultural Economics and Entrepreneurship Erasmus School of History, Culture and Communication Erasmus University Rotterdam

Master Thesis

June 2023

# People behind pixels: An exploration of working conditions, representation and government support in the Dutch video game industry

### ABSTRACT

This survey research aims to investigate *the current state of working conditions of video game developers (VGDs) and their desire for representation and government support in the Dutch video game industry*. The study used a cross-sectional quantitative design that was supplemented with open-ended questions in the survey and informal discussions. With the aim to add to knowledge about VGDs as an occupational community, this thesis explores their working conditions in the Dutch video games industry, focusing on their work-life quality and the extent to which they desire unionisation or government intervention. The findings suggest that there is a need for better working conditions and increased awareness regarding labour representation for VGDs in the Netherlands. This study also highlights the importance of addressing the occupational impact on well-being and improving the quality of work-life in the video game industry.

#### **KEYWORDS:**

Video game industry, unionisation, government support, work conditions, artist labour market

# Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Anne-Sophie Radermecker for her unwavering support and guidance throughout the master's program. Her expertise, patience, and faith in me, provided me with the motivation and strength to see this project through to the end.

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation to all the participants of this study. Their contribution and willingness to share their time and experience has been proven to be invaluable for this thesis. Without their insights this thesis would not have been possible.

Furthermore, I would also like to extend my heartfelt thanks to my friends and family for their love and support throughout this arduous journey. Their patience and encouragement have been indispensable.

> Swati Suman June 2023

# Table of Contents

1. Introduction05-10
2. Literature review11-24
2.1 The virtual dominance of the cultural world11
2.2 Understanding industry structure
2.3 The happiness engineers
2.4 Current state of affairs
2.5 Unionisation, representation, and government support
2.6 Occupational impact on quality of life21
2.6.1 Quality of work life22
2.6.2 Burnout
2.7 Hypothesis formulation23
3. Methods
3.1 Choice of methods25
3.2 Constructs and measures
3.3 Sampling and data collection27
3.4 Response rate
3.5 Practical limitations and ethical considerations
4. Data Analysis and Results
4.1 Overview of workers in the Dutch video game industry
4.2 State of current working conditions of VGDs
4.3 Unionisation, representation, and government support42
4.4 Quality of work life and burnout levels47
4.4.1 Quality of work life47
4.4.2 Disengagement and exhaustion
5. Discussion and Conclusion
5.1 Limitations and future research
References60

# List of Appendices

Appendix A: Outline of variables	70
A1. Outline of variables for socio-demographics and VGD overview	
A2. Outline of the independent variable to measure working conditions	
A3. Outline of variables for unionisation	
A4. Outline of variables for government support	
A5. Outline of independent variables for QWLS	
Appendix B: Survey Introduction messages	76
Appendix C: Informal discussion – transcript	.77

# List of tables and figures

Table 4.1.	Summary statistics for socio-demographics	;
Table 4.2.	Summary of responses for working conditions	38
Table 4.3.	Summary of statistically significant correlations between working condition	
	indicators & sociodemographic variables40	)
Table 4.4.	Summary of responses on unionisation and representation	43
Table 4.5:	Summary of responses on government support	45
Table 4.6:	Summary of statistically significant correlations between unionisation,	
	representation & government support indicators & sociodemographic	
	variables	46
Table 4.7.	Summary statistics for QWLS variables48	3
Table 4.8:	Comparative analysis of QWLS score according to sociodemographic, working	5
	conditions, government support, unionisation & collective bargaining	
	characteristics	3
Table 4.9.	Summary statistics for OLBI subscales	52
Table 4.10	): Disengagement	F
Table 4.11	: Exhaustion	)

# List of figures

Figure 1. Structure of the video game industry	.13
Figure 2. Organisation and workflow of a VGD	16

## 1. Introduction

"People always say "pop culture." As if we have some high culture to distinguish it from." – Fran Lebowitz<sup>1</sup> (Clemente, 2021)

In a 2002 interview, globally-renowned Japanese author Haruki Murakami said that "Some people think literature is high culture and that it should only have a small readership. I don't think so...I have to compete with popular culture, including TV, magazines, movies and video games" (Kattoulas, 2002). What he probably meant was that culture is what sells, what is consumed. At that time, the idea that video games could be considered a competitive (creative and) cultural product, that too by one of the most commercially successful literary figures of the present era, would probably seem a little odd. However, the video game industry continues to scale new heights, having metamorphosed from being "non-profit creative explorations of capabilities in computers" (Zackariasson & Wilson, 2010) to an innovation-driving global "cultural industry that is becoming hegemonic in the field" (Muriel & Crawford, 2018).

As far as plain numbers go, the video game industry has certainly blown away the competition from both high culture and other popular culture products including fine art, literature, movies and recorded music. As per the Art Basel and UBS Global Art Market Report (2023), the global fine art and antique market stood at an estimated \$67.8 billion in 2022. Meanwhile, in 2021, the global theatrical and streaming entertainment market clocked \$99.7 billion in revenues (Motion Picture Association, 2022) and the recorded music industry generated \$26.2 billion in 2022 (IFPI, 2023). The global market for book publishing was estimated at \$99.9 billion in 2022 (GlobeNewswire, 2023). Currently, the video game industry outsizes the commercial impact of each of the aforementioned cultural products by a wide margin. The global video game market is estimated to have generated \$184.4 billion in revenues in 2022. (Newzoo, 2023). Various forecasts project that the market size of the video game industry will breach the \$300 billion mark in the coming years. (Read, 2022; Fortune Business Insights, 2022). Moreover, driven by the increased proliferation of digital technologies, video games are being played by an increasing number of people, regardless of their demographics (Muriel & Crawford, 2018). It is estimated that in 2021 (Statista, 2022), there were over 3.2 billion gamers or people who play video games across the globe, with Asia leading the market with 1.48 billion gamers, followed by Europe with 715 million gamers. At least commercially, video games are the cultural products that every other creative and cultural industry will be competing against in the foreseeable future. Apart from possibly being the most lucrative business of the creative industries (Filipovic & Cvetković, 2020), the cultural impact of video games also continues to rise along with the level of creativity and innovation in the industry, with expanding influence in non-media domains such as education and healthcare. Now firmly placed in popular culture, video games have turned into a serious means of affecting mass consciousness, society and culture (Galanina, 2018; Rykała, 2020).

As it grows in size and influence, the video game industry is also becoming a major source of employment in the creative as well as information and communication technology sectors. In 2020, the video game industry directly employed 143,045 personnel and supported a total of 429,646 direct, indirect and induced jobs in the United States (Tripp et al., 2021), while in the European Union, video game studios and publishers employed about 74,000 people (EGDF & ISFE, 2020). While the process of making a video game requires a mix of creative and non-creative skills and is rooted in digital technology, creativity has been the core competence in making successful video games (Zackariasson & Wilson, 2010; Rykała, 2020). At its basic, video game is a form of interactive software which aims to stimulate its user through a combination of video, art and sound multimedia and thus, are full of artist decisions relating to controls, genre, visual presentation, narrative form and sound design, among others (Gai, 2022). And this community of creators with a diverse set of skills and specialisations who are at the centre of the creative process of video game production are called video game developers (VGDs) (Weststar, 2015). From a labour market perspective, VGDs are the newage workers who sit at the nexus of information and communication technology (ICT) and creative industries. Since video games are digital by definition (Muriel & Crawford, 2018), it may seem the first glance that the industry is highly technological. While it is true to some extent as the industry wholly exists because of technological advancements and also acts as a catalyst for progress in the computer hardware and software industry, particularly in the fields of graphics processing and physics processing (Zackariasson & Wilson, 2010; Filipovic & Cvetkovic, 2020). However, artistic and creative perspectives remain integral in most parts of the video game development and publishing process (Zackariasson & Wilson, 2010). And the project and intellectual property-based nature of the video game development process and the passion exhibited by the VGDs towards the craft of making games makes them more reminiscent of the creative labour force (Weststar, 2015). As VGDs are at the forefront in this era of digitalisation which is increasingly transforming the creative and cultural space, studying video games and their creators can provide us with key tools to understand contemporary cultural industries and their workers.

Despite the commercial and cultural influence of video games, they have received remarkably little attention within cultural economics, even though they have come under increased scrutiny more recently (Borowiecki & Prieto-Rodriguez, 2015; Rykała, 2020). Moreover, research about workers who make video games is even more limited, even though it is fraught with reports of poor or toxic working conditions, long working hours, low quality of work-life, burnout and low pay and shares various characteristics of creative/cultural labour market (Weststar, 2015; Klimas, 2018; UNI Global Union, 2022; Forsdick, 2018; Spindler, 2022; Semuels, 2019; Keogh & Abraham 2022). Klimas (2018) notes that not only VGDs remain under-researched, but their business models have also been changing dramatically in recent years even as they remain industry-dependent and studying them can foretaste changes in other industries.

More particularly, only a few researchers (Legault and Weststar, 2017; Mendes, 2020) have touched upon the state of working conditions for VGDs, with most of the knowledge about the topic coming from media coverage and various industry-wide surveys conducted by International Game Developer Association (IGDA), UNI Union Global and others. Meanwhile, instances of poor working conditions, low pay and harassment have led to sporadic instances of collective actions (such as strikes and walkouts) (Mendes, 2020; Grayson, 2021) and attempts at unionisation and collective representation have gained academic attention, but they remain understudied topics (Weststar and Legault, 2017b; Keogh & Abraham 2022; Dorigatti et al, 2022). Similarly, government support for VGDs also remains a largely unexplored topic. Industry-based surveys depicting the working conditions of VGDs (IGDA, 2021; UNI Global Union, 2022) have global coverage but fail to provide any significant localised insights. Dorigatti et al (2022) note that even though there have been recent explorations into problems related to working conditions faced by VGDs as well as worker's collective organisation, they are largely limited to Anglo-Saxon countries. In this context, this research aims to aid in filling this gap in the literature by adding to the stock of knowledge about VGDs as workers, the present state of labour conditions and their opinions about unionisation and government support.

In particular, this research focuses on the Dutch video game industry to gain more localised insights about video game developers. The Netherlands is an interesting case study due to several reasons - despite being a comparatively young and smaller market, the video game industry is fast expanding in the country; and has been hardly explored from a research perspective (Dorigatti et al, 2022). According to Dutch Game Garden (DGG) (2022), the revenue growth of almost 18% annually on average for Dutch game companies (to €420 million - €440 million in 2021) is above the global average in the industry. Dutch Game Garden also reported that the number of people working in the industry increased by over 5% year-overyear to 4,560 in 2021, noting that overall industry growth was led by the number of employees between 2015 and 2018 and by increased revenues in the last three years. The gaming industry in the Netherlands is said to have a clear growth potential and is considered to be "leading internationally" when compared to neighbouring countries (Nieborg and Kloet, 2016). Additionally, the Netherlands on average outperforms the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) nations in jobs, incomes and work-life balance (OECD, n.d.), has notable levels of union activity (CBS, 2022) and offers a wide variety of government support to the creative and cultural sectors (Association of the Compendium of Cultural Policies and Trends, 2019). This provides an interesting backdrop to study an industry often characterised by low pay, poor working conditions, burnouts and lack of unionisation.

Given the overall picture, the main objectives of this study are (1) evaluating the state of VGDs working in the Dutch video game industry, (2) understanding VGDs' perspective on unionisation and government support and (3) measuring their quality of work-life and burnout levels. Therefore, this study poses the following research question: What is the current state of working conditions for video game developers and their desire for representation and government support in the Dutch video game industry? The research question is further divided into sub-research questions as follows:

(1) How do video game developers characterise their working conditions in the Dutch video game industry and how does it compare to the global peer markets, artist labour markets and the Dutch labour market?

(2) What is the level of desire for unionisation and government support among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry and the reasons behind it?

(3) What are the quality of work-life and burnout levels among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry?

To achieve the objectives of this study and given the relatively small size of the Dutch video game industry, a cross-sectional quantitative survey was carried out and data was analysed using descriptive statistics, correlations and thematic content analysis.

The results of the study show that VGDs in the Dutch video game industry share similar characteristics with global VGD peers as well as creative labour markets. While poor workplace conditions are somewhat less prevalent than in the overall video game industry, they still have a significant presence in the market, with issues like excessive workloads, inadequate payments, inadequate health and retirement benefits and job insecurity being the most prevalent ones. Gender discrimination in the Dutch game industry remains a concerning issue as male dominance in the workforce outpaces the wider video game industry as well as the general labour market in the Netherlands. While unionisation is generally seen favourably among the VGDs under study, there is a fair amount of unclarity and concerns about collective representation. The study also highlights a lack of government support and VGDs expectations regarding it as well as correlations between occupational well-being indicators and working conditions.

This research has not only the potential to add to the existing knowledge base about VGDs but also has implications for practice as it can provide essential insights to policymakers and industry players regarding shortcomings in job conditions in the Dutch game industry as well as possible interventions to improve those conditions. The results of this research can be used to draw inferences about the attractiveness of the Dutch game industry for a growing talent pool which can easily access more mature video game-producing markets through immigration and remote working.

#### 2. Literature Review

Even as video games continue to be a growing source of entertainment and socialisation for millions of people with expanding influence in non-media domains such as education and healthcare, the working conditions of those who create them have come under some scrutiny in recent years. Since that is the primary subject of this research as well, this literature review first aims to provide context regarding the place of the booming video game industry and the creative workers who make it all possible in the creative and cultural economy. Following that, the existing research and data on the working conditions of creative workers, as well as labour representation and regulation in the industry, will be discussed. Finally, this review will explore the theoretical perspective of the occupational impact on well-being, with a focus on the specific constructs applied in this study. In addition, this section also formulates the hypothesis to answer the research questions.

#### 2.1 The virtual dominance of the cultural world

British cultural critic and author Alan Kirby (2009) argues that the era of postmodernism in the cultural context has come to an end and it has been succeeded by a new "hegemonic" paradigm shaped by innovations in computer and digital technology which he calls "digimodernism." He posits that digimodernism has become the cultural-dominant since the late 1990s and "denotes the point at which digitalization intersects with cultural and artistic forms." Digitalization has not only transformed the way cultural and creative goods are produced, distributed and consumed but also enabled the emergence of new forms of creative goods and services, the most notable of which are video games (Handke & Towse, 2013). Banks and Cunningham (2013) note the video game industry is the major "born global/born digital" creative industry, characterised by impressive growth and rapid innovation cycles. The scope of video games also continues to expand beyond the domain of entertainment through 'gamification' (the use of game design and mechanics in non-game contexts applications) and applied (or serious) in many industries such as defence, health and education. So if, as Muriel & Crawford (2018) state, digimodernism is the hegemonic cultural paradigm of contemporary society, then video games, digital by definition, provide the best entry point and the key tools to understand the current cultural landscape.

According to the 2023 Global Games Market Market by games and esports analytics and market research firm Newzoo (2023), the global video game market is estimated to have generated \$184.4 billion in revenues in 2022. Although it was a 4.3% decline from a year ago, 2022 is expected to be an outlier corrective year after two years of lockdown-fueled growth during the coronavirus pandemic, the report noted, adding that over 2020 to 2025, the market is forecasted to grow at 3.4% compounded annual growth rate (CAGR) to \$211.2 billion. Regionally speaking, in 2022, Asia-Pacific was the largest video game market with \$87.8 billion in total revenues, accounting for 48% market share, followed by North America (\$48.4 billion revenue; 26% market share), Europe (\$32.9 billion; 18%), Latin America (\$8.4 billion; 5%) and Middle East & Africa (\$6.8 billion; 4%). In the case of the Netherlands, the video game industry is estimated to have generated revenues of €420-440 million, an 18% year-over-year increase and an up to 196% jump from €225-300 million revenue in 2018 (DGG, 2019; 2021; 2022). Meanwhile, the number of companies in the Dutch video game industry has increased to 673 in 2021 from 575 in 2018 (DGG, 2018; 2022).

Moreover, the video game industry is not just limited to relationships within the industry, but also with other industries such as the film and TV industry, publishing industry and toy industry by creating products based on game characters and vice versa, as well as sports, music and fashion industry (Rykała, 2020). Despite the wide-ranging influence of the video games industry, it is the creativity in video games that remains the essence that drives the industry.

## 2.2 Understanding industry structure

In terms of platforms and distribution channels, Newzoo (2023) broadly classifies the video games industry into four categories – mobile games, console games, downloaded/boxed PC games and browser PC games. Mobile games are the largest segment, generating half of the global industry revenues with \$92.2 billion in 2022. Console games (\$51.8 billion revenue; 28% market share in 2022) and downloaded/boxed PC games (\$38.2 billion; 21%) make up most of the remaining market, with browser PC games just accounting for about 1% of the market (Newzoo, 2023). However, the size, scope and growth of the video game industry hides a complex and sometimes structurally volatile structure characterised by frequent changes in dominant players, driven by platform changes and protean consumer preferences (Banks and Cunningham, 2013).

The video game industry has come a long from its initial era of arcade machines and the dominant platform has since shifted from console and PC games towards small handheld devices with mobile- and tablet-based gaming currently leading (Banks and Cunningham, 2013; Newzoo, 2023). While there are certain oligopolistic structures in the global video game industry, with few dominant players in different segments of the market (e.g. Nintendo, Sony and Microsoft in consoles; Steam, Epic and PC manufacturers in PC gaming; Tencent, Apple in mobile gaming; Ubisoft, Activision-Blizzard in third-party publishing), Banks and Cunningham (2013) suggest that the constant changes in the underlying market dynamics lead to "more porous power structure than seen in many other industries." Nonetheless, it is conventionally accepted that the video game sector constitutes four main groups of actors: game developers, game publishers, game distributors and console (or hardware) manufacturers (Rykała, 2020; Cadin and Guerin, 2006).



**Figure 1:** Structure of the video game industry Source: (Cadin and Guerin, 2006). pp. 248-255.

Developers are the ones who create games, while publishers finance and promote games to console manufacturers and console manufacturers develop hardware platforms (including dedicated gaming consoles, computers and smart mobile devices) and distributors (both retail and online) make games available to the final user (Cadin and Guerin, 2006). However, as Figure 1 shows, the players in this structure don't exist in silos, but in tandem with often overlapping priorities. Console manufacturers (especially Nintendo, Sony and Microsoft) frequently develop internally exclusive games and other intellectual property (IP) for their platforms, finance and buy games from independent developers and distribute games through their channels. Publishers also have their studios and buyouts of small firms which show promise by dominant publishers are a regular feature of the game industry (Cadin and Guerin, 2006; Banks and Cunningham, 2013). Cadin and Guerin (2006) further note that the video game industry is led by distributors and players who are the most vertically integrated.

Video games belong to the system of mass cultural production (Galanina, 2018) and creativity is present throughout the entire structure of the video game industry (Zackarisson and Wilson, 2010). Contrary to the outward perception that video games are driven by technological innovations, it is the other way around as artistic and creative perspectives constitute most parts of the process of developing and publishing a video game (Zackarisson and Wilson, 2010; Banks and Cunningham, 2013). As the video game industry closely resembles the traditional publishing structure seen in many other CCI sectors, creativity can often be a negotiated result but it also allows for alternative means of production and distribution (Zackarisson and Wilson, 2010). Galanina (2018) states that the video games industry is creative, has strong potential, and it changes cultural space.

#### 2.3 The happiness engineers

Filipovic and Cvetković (2020) describe video games as "a sum of different artistic and technological achievements from the past, which caused their genesis and existence." Juul (2005, as cited in Zackarisson and Wilson, 2010) defined video games as consisting of six main features: they have their own rules; have variable outcomes; outcomes are measured differently; require effort from players to influence the result; outcomes have an emotional impact on the players; and can be played with or with real-life consequences. According to Zackarisson and Wilson (2010), video games must consist of three essential features: setting, sensory stimuli and rules. Settings refer to the given genre, plot and interface of the video games, while sensory stimuli are experienced by the gamers while players and rules guide the structure of the video game experience. However, in theory, Zackarisson and Wilson (2010) state, video games be anything and the only limitations are those imposed by the developers themselves, their creativity and imagination. Simply put, video game developers form the creative core of the industry as they are the ones who conduct the artistic and technical work of building the game (Weststar, 2015; Mendes 2020).

McGuire and Jenkins (2008, as cited in Mendes, 2020) mention that games are a combination of art and science, defining a game developer as a multidisciplinarian who undertakes the whole or part process of video game creation, including mechanics (gameplay, controls, etc.), content (art style, music, narrative, etc.) and technology (software, compatibility, etc.). All of this could be done by even one person or team involving hundreds of VGDs, depending on the size of the project or the vision of the creators.

While VGDs often have a diverse set of capabilities and carry out multiple roles, they can broadly be classified into four categories: *designers, programmers, artists and other major occupations* (Liming and Vilorio, 2011). Designers are the ones who imagine and conceptualise almost everything about and in a video game and work closely with programmers and artists during game production. Various types of video game designers include lead designers, content designers, game mechanic designers, level designers and writers. Programmers are the more technical members of a development team as they are involved in building the underlying software structure of the games through coding languages and include types such as lead programmer, artificial intelligence programmer, graphics programmer, network programmer, physics programmer and user interface programmer. Artists design a game's aesthetic, or visual style, including artwork, environment, characters and objects as well as marketing material and can be categorised as art directors, lead artists, concept artists, modellers, animators and other artists. Audio workers, executives, producers and quality assurance testers make up other major occupations (Liming and Vilorio, 2011).

Most commonly any video game production comprises four teams – programming, art, audio and design – which depend upon cooperation among groups and require coordination of objectives with successive progress Zackariasson and Wilson (2010). Figure 2 provides an example of the organisation and workflow of a video game developer, indicating how much the typical development process relies on cooperation between individual groups.



Figure 2: Organisation and workflow of a VGD

Source: (Zackariasson and Wilson, 2010)

VGDs can form four distinct types of relationships in the gaming industry: relationships with other game developers, with publishers, with distributors and with console manufacturers (Klimas, 2015, as cited in Rykała, 2020). Zackariasson and Wilson (2010) further state that there are three ways in which developers relate to a publisher – as a third-party developer, working under contract with a publisher; as an in-house developer for a publisher; or as an independent developer, who develops and publish games on their own by leveraging online marketplaces. However, for independent developers, despite some examples of high-profile success stories, the video game industry is volatile and high-risk with a very low likelihood of commercial and economic success (Banks and Cunningham, 2013). This is reminiscent of the artists' labour market where a few top performers dominate the dominant monetary rewards and cultural discourse, which was called the 'superstar' phenomenon by Rosen (1981). Weststar (2015) also notes that like other star systems, even in the video game industry, developers who succeed are well rewarded.

For video game developers, Klimas (2018) claims that it's fruitless to separately assess human and knowledge resources, as regardless of business model, types of games developed or monetization method, people along with their knowledge are considered the most important type of resource in the video game industry, in line with other creative industries which are mainly knowledge-based professionals (Rykała, 2020). Meanwhile, digitalisation has made means of producing and distributing cultural goods widely available and accessible, consumers have gained the ability to become the producers themselves, leading to a 'produsage,' a mixture of production and use (Hesmondhalgh and Baker, 2011). Even in the video game industry, gamers are no longer seen at the end of the value chain, instead, they are involved in the making, promoting and distributing games, characterising the co-creative relationship that exists between gamers and developers. More often, creative and knowledgeable workers inclined to work in the video game industry do so out of their passion for video games (Weststar, 2015) and having an inclination towards gaming is seen almost as a prerequisite by most employers in the industry (Klimas, 2018).

Klimas (2018) also stated that 'relational resources' i.e. external business and social relationships and networking with their peers was of key importance to VGDs. In fact, through a thematic analysis of secondary online material regarding VGDs, Weststar (2015) concluded that they meet the characteristics of an occupational community that share a common set of norms and values (Salaman, 1971, as cited in Weststar, 2015), which goes beyond geographical boundaries. As the trade or the crafts are increasingly defining the environments of the workers today, instead of their firms, they often depend on their occupational community for networking, improving knowledge and skills, finding job support, and sharing identity and meaning. As per Weststar (2015), like other occupational communities in the creative and cultural industries, VGDs also showed an inclination to spend leisure time with their occupational community members and indicated a love for game development and an inability to perceive doing anything else as a career. Weststar (2015) further states that a VGD typically "chooses video game development not because of the fit with his skill set, but because of a deeper connection to the work that makes him different...".

And they are indeed different, in more ways than one. In his book *Reality is Broken*, McGonigal (2011, p. 35-52) notes that the game industry is increasingly drawing on positive psychology to understand the emotional and psychological impact of games, and game designers are turning the art of optimising human experience into an applied science. And therefore, he says that VGDs are among "the most talented and powerful happiness engineers on the planet." But are the happiness engineers happy? While that is naturally difficult to assert either way for anyone, Weststar (2015) states that viewing the VGD community from the occupational lens can allow a better understanding of their labour conditions and characteristics, as well as to contextualise and compare them with other organisational, industry and societal norms.

#### 2.4 Current State of Affairs

In an occupational sense, video game developers sit at the nexus of creative and cultural industries and the ICT industries (Weststar, 2015), and thus have become a growing source of employment for creative as well as technology professionals. In 2020, the video game industry directly employed 143,045 personnel and supported a total of 429,646 direct, indirect and induced jobs in the United States (Tripp et al., 2021), while in the European Union, video game studios and publishers employed about 74,000 people (EGDF & IFSE, 2020). Meanwhile, in the Dutch video game industry, the number of people working in the industry has increased by over 5% year-over-year to 4,560 in 2021 and by more than 18% since 2018 (DGG, 2018; DGG, 2022). UNI Global Union (2022) also estimates the workforce in the Dutch video game market to be less than 5,000.

While many VGDs may enter the industry because of their passion for games, renowned journalist and author Jason Schreier (2021) describes the video game industry as a sector that does not treat people well and "sells the illusion of careers." He notes that the poor working conditions associated with the video gaming industry are particularly striking as it is a massively profitable global juggernaut. (Schreier, 2021). Working in video game development is not as dreamy as the experiences VGDs strive to create. Instead, it is fraught with reports of poor or toxic working conditions, long working hours, burnouts and low pay (UNI Global Union, 2022; Forsdick, 2018; Spindler, 2022; Semuels, 2019). Video game development and publishing companies, like most of the companies in cultural and creative industries (CCI), have a project-based environment and their economic relevance depends on the fruitful implementation of these created projects (Weststar, 2015; Zackariasson and Wilson, 2010). As a result, VGDs also face the challenges often associated with other project-based workers, including crunch (or the practice of compulsory sustained long working hours), unlimited and underpaid overtime, poor work-life balance, burnout, IP loss, non-compete or non-disclosure agreements, and constrained training opportunities (Weststar, 2015). Despite widely reported problems with work conditions and the environment in the video game industry, the research on VGDs as workers have been sparse (Weststar, 2015). More particularly, only a few researchers (Legault and Weststar, 2017; Mendes, 2020) have touched upon the state of working conditions for VGDs, with most of the knowledge about the topic coming from media coverage and various industry-wide surveys conducted by International Game Developer Association (IGDA), UNI Union Global and others.

A survey by the IGDA (2021) indicated that socio-demographically, the majority of VGDs identified as male (61%) and about 33% as female, were mostly young (with 79% under the age of 40%) and highly educated (73% with at least a college degree or diploma). While 72% of VGDs had either part-time or full-time employment, 14% were self-employed and the remaining 13% worked as freelancers (IGDA, 2021). The survey showed that significant percentages of VGDs experienced inequality and long work hours at their jobs and showed strong support for unionisation. As per the IGDA (2021) data, less than half of the respondents said that they had not faced any form of workplace discrimination themselves and only 29% had never witnessed it against others, with microaggression being called out as the most common issue. Moreover, around 47% of VGDs felt that crunch or long hours was expected as a normal part of their job, which was particularly higher for freelancers (73%). In terms of job experience and job security, most employees had less than nine years of experience and most expected high job mobility (IGDA, 2021). Meanwhile, in another survey conducted by UNI Global Union (2022), the top workplace issues identified by VGDs were low pay (67%), excessive work demands and/or hours (43%), inadequate benefits (43%), lack of access to training, software, etc. (39%), job insecurity (37%), and discrimination and/or sexual harassment (35%). A significant number of women (46%) and non-binary VGDs (43%) reported gender discrimination as a workplace issue.

VGDs often deal with extremely demanding work conditions and despite some recent improvements, crunch remains a prevalent issue in the video game industry. Previously, Legault and Weststar (2017) had also made similar assertions, noting that while there was a downward trend in the frequency of crunch, unpredictable and long work hours continued to prevail as they are built into the project-managed work environments.

In the Dutch game industry context, there is little recent literature available to gauge the working conditions of workers. However, Nieborg and Kloet (2016) reported that job security is "non-existent" and there is a remarkable absence of trade unions which leaves VGDs with a lack of collective support. On the other hand, the Netherlands is considered to be among the top countries when it comes to work-life balance across the overall labour force (Smith, 2018). As per the OECD Better Life Index, the Netherlands has the best work-life balance among 38 member nations of the OECD, with only 0.3% of Dutch workers enduring long hours at their jobs (OECD, n.d.). The Netherlands outperforms the average in jobs and work-life balance in OECD countries. Additionally, per World Bank (2022), women made up 46.9% of the overall Dutch labour force.

From a CCI perspective, it does not seem that the VGDs are much better placed than their peers. Abbing (2008) and Towse (2006) note that most participants in the artist labour market fail to achieve significant economic success. Thom (2016) states that there are few fulltime or permanent employment opportunities for fine artists and most end up pursuing work on a freelance or self-employed basis. Researchers have said that artists tend to work in their chosen crafts out of their passion for it, rather than sustenance, and as per Throsby's (1994, p. 69-80) 'work preference model', most artists try to 'buy time' and end up doing both arts and non-arts work in order to support their passion for art-related works. In a study of three cultural industries – magazines, music and broadcasting – Hesmondhalgh and Baker (2011, p. 134), stated that "creative work often demands long, sustained periods of efforts, especially when work is near complete," which is basically what happens during crunch in the video game industry. Feelings of insecurity were also prevalent across all three sectors, even among those with salaried positions, and given the short-term nature of contracts, job-seeking was relentless (Hesmondhalgh and Baker, 2011, p. 113-138). The authors also concluded that low wages were a persistent problem across industries, combined with the long working hours as workers are required to be flexible with their time and yet are not paid consummately for hours actually worked.

#### 2.5 Unionisation, representation and government support

Coles (2016) states that as a neoliberal construct, unionisation and collective bargaining are largely absent in the creative economy as the individual labour market power of the creative workers makes them irrelevant. Moreover, the author notes that cultural labour problems are more often than not acknowledged or addressed as cultural policy problems. Hesmondhalgh and Baker (2011, p. 113-138) in their study of cultural industries also found that unionisation was declining even in sectors which were previously characterised by a high proportion of unionised workers (such as TV broadcasting), and most freelance workers negotiated rates individually.

There is little research available on topics of unionisation, representation and government support in the context of the video games industry. According to IGDA (2021) data only 12% of VGDs were unionized, but the situation has improved significantly from 6% in 2019. The report further notes that most VGDs hold favourable views about unions as they increasingly feel that unionisation can benefit them, and a country-based union of all VGDs was the most positively-viewed form of unionisation. Similarly, UNI Global Union's (2022)

global survey found that 79% of VGDs supported forming a union, with the support touching 85% for Europe-based VGDs. Weststar and Legault (2017b) stated that while the labour process of videogame development is the antithesis of the union archetype, most VGDs support unions, the type of unionism matters and that national industry union is a salient model for such workers. More recently, Dorigatti et al (2022) studied the interest representation in the video game industry in Denmark, Italy and the Netherlands. The authors noted that union membership among VGDs in the Netherlands is close to zero, with little effort from any of the established trade unions to organise the video game industry. They further noted that even professional associations are less well established and collective bargaining is almost absent in the Netherlands. However, there are no studies that directly indicate the support for unionisation among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry.

In the case of the overall Dutch labour market, as of March 2021, 16% of male workers and 19% of female workers were part of a trade union, although the numbers have declined for both men and women by over 5% and 7%, respectively, over the previous two-year period (CBS, 2022). In addition, the unionisation level was slightly lower in the culture, sports and recreation sector (14%) and much lower in the ICT sector (6%).

#### 2.6 Occupational Impact on Quality of Life

Abraham Maslow theorized that most people want more than they have, arguing that once a person has met their most basic needs, they then develop higher needs (Daniel, 2019; Bora, 2015). Maslow developed a hierarchy of needs consisting of five levels: physiological needs, safety needs, love and belonging, esteem needs, and self-actualization (Daniel, 2019).

In the lives of most people engaged in productive activities, work plays a central role, and therefore, the work environment plays a key role in the life and well-being of the workers (Razak et al, 2015; Bora, 2015). Quality of work life (QWL) as a concept has steadily gained importance in industrialised countries as the role and status of human beings are being increasingly changed in the modern technological environment (Bora, 2015). However, despite advancements in the labour discourse, a universally accepted definition is lacking, even though a myriad of definitions of quality of work-life exist. Researchers have highlighted various aspects of QWL, including valuable consequences of work life, a goal, a process, and a philosophy (Afroz, 2017). Other researchers, such as Sirgy et al. (2001), focus on need satisfaction and define QWL in terms of satisfaction with higher-order and lower-order needs.

The concept of quality of work life (QWL) is based on three indicators: physiological, psychological, and behavioural. Physiological indicators relate to physical manifestations of well-being, psychological indicators involve negative attitudes or emotions, and behavioural indicators encompass changes in an individual's behaviour (Daniel, 2019). Bora (2015) highlights the central role of work in people's lives and the benefits of QWL, such as improved self-esteem, job satisfaction, commitment, health, and productivity.

### 2.6.1 Quality of Work Life

Quality of Work Life (QWL) can be defined as the extent to which an employee's personal and working needs are satisfied while working for an organisation. It is a multidimensional construct which considers various variables such as job satisfaction, stability and income as well as physical, physiological and social factors (Swamy et al, 2015). QWL involves workers' satisfaction of basic needs such as health and safety and economic and family needs as well as growth needs like social, esteem and recognition (Sinval et al, 2013). One of the instruments designed to measure QWL includes the Quality of Work Life Scale (QWLS) which measures the satisfaction of specific needs at work (Sinval et al, 2019).

QWLS measures 16 parameters on a seven-point agreement-disagreement scale to evaluate various job components such as working environment, job demand, and behaviour of manager, among others. It is based on two theoretical frameworks: need satisfaction theory and spillover theory (Sirgy et al, 2001; Tasdemir Afsar & Burcu, 2014; Sinval et al, 2019). Need satisfaction theory suggests that individuals have certain basic needs that must be satisfied for them to feel satisfied with their lives, while spillover theory suggests that the experiences and feelings that individuals have in one area of their lives can spill over into other areas, such as work. In this case, the dependent variable is the quality of work life (QWL) and the independent variables are the different aspects of need satisfaction and spillover that are measured in the QWL scale. The independent variable measure employee satisfaction with two sets of needs: Lower-order needs constituting (i) health/safety needs (NSs), (ii) economic/family needs (NSef); and higher-order needs constituting (i) social needs (NSs), (ii) esteem needs (NSt), (iii) self-actualization needs (NSa), (iv) knowledge needs (NSk), and (v) aesthetic needs (NScs).

Mathematically stated: QWL = NShs + NSef + NSs + NSt + NSa + NSk + NScs

The validity and reliability evidence of QWLS investigated by various researchers (Tasdemir Afsar & Burcu, 2014; Razak et al, 2016; Sinval et al, 2019) found the measure to be consistent across geographies and occupations.

#### 2.6.2 Burnout

The World Health Organisation (WHO) has classified burnout as an occupational phenomenon defining it as a syndrome "resulting from chronic workplace stress that has not been successfully managed" (WHO, 2019). As burnout occurs in the work context, it is affected by situational factors such as job, work environment and organisational factors and has been often cited among the main reasons VGDs leave the industry (Mendes, 2020). Among the instruments used to measure burnout among employees, this paper uses the Oldenburg Burnout Inventory (OLBI) (Halbesleben & Demerouti, 2005) which evaluates emotional exhaustion and disengagement.

OLBI also uses 16 parameters on a five-point agree-disagree scale to measure burnout through exhaustion and disengagement. In this case, the dependent variable "burnout" is measured through eight independent variables each for the two dimensions of burnout – exhaustion and disengagement. The disengagement factor refers to distancing from work in terms of both object and content and to the development of cynical and negative attitudes and behaviours concerning one's job (Bakker et al., 2004; Sinval, 2019b). Exhaustion refers to feelings of physical fatigue, the need to rest, and feelings of overtaxing and emptiness concerning work (Demerouti et al, 2010; Sinval, 2019b). It contains both positive and negative statements with scoring being reversed for 8 statements.

The validity and reliability evidence of OLBI measure by various researchers (Bakker, 2014; Reis et al, 2015; Sinval et al 2019) found the measure to be consistent across geographies and occupations.

### 2.7 Hypothesis formulation

The main objectives of this study are (1) evaluating the state of VGDs working in the Dutch video game industry, (2) understanding VGDs' perspective about unionisation and government support and (3) measuring their quality of work-life and burnout levels.

Therefore, the all-encompassing research question of this study is: What is the current state of working conditions for video game developers and their desire for representation and

government support in the Dutch video game industry? The research question is further divided into sub-research questions as follows:

(1) How do video game developers characterise their working conditions in the Dutch video game industry and how does it compare to the global peer markets, artist labour markets and the Dutch labour market?

(2) What is the level of desire for unionisation and government support among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry and the reasons behind it?

(3) What are the quality of work-life and burnout levels among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry?

To answer sub-research question (1), given the wide prevalence of poor working conditions among VGDs and on assumption that VGDs in the Dutch video game industry are also part of the global developer community, the following hypothesis is proposed:

H1: VGDs in the Dutch video game industry also face workplace problems that are associated with the global video game industry.

Given the majority of indicative support for unionisation, as seen in the literature, this study formulates the following hypotheses to answer the sub-research question (2):

H2a: VGDs in the Dutch video game industry strongly support unionisation.

H2b: VGDs in the Dutch video game industry show a strong desire for government support.

Considering that poor working conditions and burnouts among VGDs are widely accepted norms, the following hypotheses are assumed to answer the sub-research question (3):

H3a: *VGDs in the Dutch video game industry have a low-quality of work-life balance.* 

H3b: VGDs in the Dutch video game industry show high levels of disengagement and exhaustion.

### 3. Methods

#### 3.1 Choice of Methods

This study uses a cross-sectional quantitative survey research design to examine working conditions as well as support for unionization and government intervention among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry. To gain objective insights from the broadest possible representation of VGDs, a cross-sectional design is a practical approach for this research given its limited time frame and the multiple variables under analysis here. A quantitative survey was designed and deployed to make the findings more generalizable to the overall Dutch video game industry. The survey provided access to a diverse range of VGDs including different roles, positions, levels of experience, and companies and the results are more likely to reflect the reality of the industry as a whole.

Quantitative research design can also help measure social reality or phenomena that don't exist naturally in quantitative form such as attitudes and beliefs (Sukamolson, 2007). Moreover, given the deductive nature of quantitative research (Bryman, 2008; Sukamolson, 2007), the current study aims to update the existing knowledge base about VGDs in particular and creative labour in general as well as create a contemporary point of reference for the Dutch video game industry.

In addition, the methods used in this study can help draw comparisons across different groups and existing secondary data and analyze correlations and relationships between variables. Moreover, cross-sectional quantitative design can highlight knowledge gaps that may exist within the industry. This could potentially provide valuable information for benchmarking against industry norms and standards to provide insights into areas that may require improvement and evidence for policy discussions and decision-making. The study has also been supplemented with open-ended questions in the survey to gain deeper thematic insights from VGDs and informal discussions with several industry stakeholders to better understand the findings.

### 3.2 Constructs and measures

The study was operationalized through an online English-language self-completion questionnaire as it can measure the concepts under analysis through direct and indirect indicators, infer causality by establishing relationships between variables and generalize findings for the sample population (Bryman, 2008). Despite focusing on the Dutch video game industry, it was decided to draft the questionnaire (or survey, used interchangeably henceforth) in English because nearly 90% of the Dutch population speaks English (Publications Office of the European Union, 2012) and not all VGDs working in the Dutch video game industry reside in the Netherlands, so presumably most respondents would be comfortable answering in English.

The questionnaire consists of several themes namely demographics, working conditions, government support and unionisation, quality of work-life scale (QWLS) and Oldenburg Burnout Inventory (OLBI). The demographic questions related to age, gender\*, education, location\*, whether they were directly involved in the video game development process, employment status\*, company type\*, job role\*, company size, organisation name\*, work experience, work schedule\*, promotions, work model, compensation method\*, hours worked per week and annual income range. In this study, the socio-demographic variables have been analyzed to create a comparative overview of VGDs in the Dutch video game industry and also used control variables for the subsequent themes. While most of the questions in this section were closed-ended, some questions offered optional or mandatory (for location, company name and job role) text entry options (denoted with \*), which were coded for easier dissemination as well as thematic content analysis (Bryman, 2008).

To measure the state of working conditions and test Hypothesis 1 (H1), the questionnaire relied on existing industry surveys by IGDA (2021) and UNI Global Union (2022) as well as past research. The surveys as well as studies by Mendes (2020) and Weststar and Legault (2017b) have shown that low wages, excessive work, inadequate benefits, discrimination and/or harassment are some of the common workplace issues among VGDs. This study aimed to identify whether VGDs working in the Dutch video game industry also identify with similar workplace issues and to what extent. In addition, two open-ended questions regarding personal experiences of discrimination and harassment and opinions about VGD working conditions were also included for this theme and a thematic content analysis method was applied to the responses to draw insights and common trends. Sets of variables for socio-demographics and working conditions are summarised in Appendix A-1 and A-2.

Similar to working conditions, questions about unionisation, and representation were based on past research by Weststar and Legault (2017b), UNI Global Union (2022), IGDA (2021) and Dorigatti et al (2022) to test H2a. Appendix A-3 shows the outline of variables used to measure the level of representation and support for unionisation shown by VGDs as well as its perceived benefits and drawbacks. Appendix A-4 also summarises the variables used to measure perceptions about government support among VGDs in the video game industry and test H2b. Notably, questions related to perceived drawbacks and benefits of unionisation and type of government support also included an option for text entry to gain the widest possible range of opinions on the subject matters at hand.

The final two sections of the survey consist of a series of agree-disagree statements based on the QWLS measure (Sirgy et al., 2001; Sinval, et al., 2019) and the OLBI measure (Halbesleben & Demerouti, 2005; Bakker, A., 2014).

QWLS measures 16 parameters on a seven-point agreement-disagreement scale to evaluate various job components such as working environment, job demand, and behaviour of manager, among others. In this case, the dependent variable is the quality of work life (QWL) and the independent variables are the different aspects of need satisfaction and spillover that are measured in the QWL scale. (Sirgy et al, 2001; Tasmedir Afsar, 2013; Sinval et al, 2019a).

OLBI also uses 16 parameters on a five-point agree-disagree scale to measure burnout through exhaustion and disengagement. In this case, the dependent variable "burnout" is measured through eight independent variables each for the two dimensions of burnout – exhaustion and disengagement (Bakker et al., 2004; Sinval, 2019b). It contains both positive and negative statements with scoring being reversed for 8 statements. Both QWLS and OLBI are typically analyzed by calculating the mean scores of the underlying subscales separately. For QWLS lower scores indicate poor quality of work life and for OLBI higher scores indicate higher levels of burnout. Appendix A-5 and Appendix A-6 detail the outline of variables for QWLS and OBLI, respectively.

The questionnaire was created on the Qualtrics platform and the entire questionnaire in English with valid responses can be found in additional attachments (Appendix I). The data were processed and analysed using analytic tools available on the Qualtrics platform – Stats iQ for univariate analysis, descriptive statistics and correlations, and Text iQ for content analysis.

#### 3.3 Sampling and data collection

The sample for this study was collected between 15 March 2023 and 28 May 2023 through a combination of judgement sampling and snowball sampling (Bryman, 2008; Fricker, Jr, 2017). As the name implies, judgement sampling allows researchers to select the sample

based on their judgement and snowball sampling allows new sampling units to be recruited by leveraging connections with initial contacts made during the study. As mentioned in the previous section, the online survey was created on the Qualtrics platform, which the respondents could access anonymously by clicking on the link to the survey provided to them in my communications with them. While it was initially estimated that respondents would have to spend roughly 10-15 minutes to complete the survey, it was likely an underestimate for several respondents as the optional open and semi-open-ended questions received a higher number of responses than anticipated.

According to the Dutch Game Garden (2022), the Dutch video game industry consisted of 630 companies and 4,560 jobs in 2021. This is a relatively small population of potential respondents with no definitive directory of companies or VGDs and thus, a variety of efforts were made to reach out to them. At the same time, it was strongly desired that there should be a fair amount of certainty that the respondents are VGD professionals working in the Dutch video game industry. To achieve this, the first step involved defining the Dutch video game industry for the purposes of this study.

The video game industry can be defined as consisting of all companies that engage in "at least one of the following processes in the value chain: the development, production, publication, facilitation and/or electronic distribution of electronic games" (DGG, 2018). This study added additional inclusion criteria to the above definition that respondents either worked for companies that identify as a part of the Dutch video gaming industry through their membership in the Dutch Gaming Association (DGA) and/or have offices based in the Netherlands, or as independent workers based in the Netherlands.

To ensure that these inclusion criteria were met, the initial distribution list included employees of companies that are listed as members of DGA as well as its individual members, who were contacted through their LinkedIn profiles or official email provided on the DGA website. DGA describes itself it is the official sector organization for game creators in the Netherlands with over 100 member companies and is a member of the European Games Developer Federation and Dutch Creative Industry Federation (DGA, 2022). While such professional organizations are less well-established, workers still see the DGA as the main representative body of the industry in the Netherlands (Dorigatti, et al, 2022). I also contacted DGA to request their cooperation for this study and they agreed to distribute the questionnaire link with an introductory message (Appendix B) on internal communication channels managed by them as well as their partner organisation Dutch Game Garden. A few other respondents and companies who were connected over LinkedIn or email also informed that they have shared the questionnaire with their peers or on internal communication channels. Furthermore, LinkedIn's in-built search function and Google search were used to find more companies and VGDs that met the inclusion criteria (verified through their websites or LinkedIn profiles) and were contacted to participate in the survey.

However, the data collection process was hindered for a couple of weeks after my LinkedIn profile was suspended, apparently due to breaching the website's limit on making new connections, before being restored after a review. These hurdles necessitated the extension of the data collection period by a few weeks than planned initially. However, I believe that my strategy of meticulously ensuring that the inclusion criteria were met provides a fair degree of certainty that the respondents represent the Dutch video game industry despite the anonymous nature of the survey.

### 3.4 Response rate

It is rather difficult to calculate the exact response rate for the questionnaire due to the multiplicity of channels employed to distribute it. Roughly speaking, more than 1,500 contacts were made over LinkedIn, at least five organisations shared the survey on their internal channels and additional requests were distributed via several emails to companies as well as individuals. In addition, several respondents abandoned the survey at various points, a frequent problem encountered with online anonymous surveys. Therefore, the response rate means that 192 respondents completed at least the first 19 questions on socio-demographic variables in a valid/acceptable manner, which corresponds to over 4% of the total population. Considering the inherent low-response rates of online surveys and the fact that global surveys by IGDA (2021) and UNI Global Union (2022) targeting VGDs and spanning multiple countries garnered 803 and 512 valid responses, respectively, the response rate and the valid sample size for the present study can be considered satisfactory. It should be noted that since some questions were based on respondent's previous responses not every respondent was presented with every question. In some cases, respondents did not answer each question presented to them or completed the survey entirely. Therefore, the results of this survey are based on valid responses for each completed section and the sample size varies for relevant variables for those sections. For some variables, correlations and cross-tabulations, the total statistical groupings

may not sum up to 100% either because of multiple options being allowed for the variable or missing responses.

### 3.5 Practical Limitations and ethical considerations

The sample is not necessarily representative of the entire VGD population in the Dutch video game industry as the survey was largely limited to online and professional channels. Moreover, web surveys generally present low response rates (Massey & Tourangeau, 2013) and thus the statistics provided are only indicative of the sample of respondents. However, the demographic data showed that the results were fairly consistent with general trends in the global video game industry and video game industry data in the Netherlands.

Several ethical considerations were also kept in mind while carrying out the study, such as obtaining informed consent from the respondents, providing them with comprehensive information about the purpose of the survey and guaranteeing the privacy of the survey respondents. The participation was voluntary and anonymous, and the respondents were able to withdraw at any point in the survey. General data protection regulation in the form of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in the European Union was adopted to assure respondents that data is to be only used for the stated research purposes.

### 4. Data Analysis and Results

#### 4.1 Overview of Workers in the Dutch video game industry

A final sample of 192 respondents who have completed the sociodemographics section of the survey indicated that the workers in the Dutch video game industry were largely male, young and well-educated. While this picture is fairly consistent with those presented by IGDA (2021), UNI Global Union (2022) and Dutch Game Garden (2022), there are some notable differences. Table 4.1 shows the summary of socio-demographic statistics (adapted from Appendix D).

First of all, the findings of this study show not only do the male-dominant archetypes of the video game and ICT industries also persist in the Dutch video game industry, but it is also higher compared to the global industry average as well as the local labour market. In terms of gender, most of the respondents identified as male (78%), with 19% as female and 3% as non-binary. In fact, among those who identified as video game developers (163 respondents or 93% of the sample), the percentage of women fell to around 16% and men rose to over 80%. In comparison, the IGDA (2021) survey, which spanned over 30 countries including the Netherlands, showed that 61% VGDs were men, 31% were women and 8% were non-binary or others. Meanwhile, per World Bank (2022) data, women account for 49.4% of the overall labour force in the Netherlands. In technology-related fields, women hold 28% of the jobs, while in the European Union, they make up about 19% of the ICT sector (Radulovski, 2022).

In terms of age, on average, the workers in the Dutch video game industry were younger than their global peers, as 51% of the sample was less than 30 years old, compared to just 36% in IGDA (2022) survey. Those over 40 years old made up 13% of the present sample, while they comprised 22% of the respondents in the IGDA (2022) report. Moreover, women in the Dutch video game industry tend be to younger, with 60% of them being younger than 30 years and only 5% older than 40 years. Women also tend to be more well-educated, with 97% having at least completed graduation, compared to the sample average of 83%.

As is becoming increasingly common in various industries, either due to offshoring or the increased prevalence of remote working, not all those who work in the Dutch video industry are based in the Netherlands. While 88% of the sample said that they were located in the Netherlands, the remaining 12% were based in countries like Argentina (3%), France, Iran, Turkey, Canada, Chile, Hungary, Poland, Portugal, Romania, South Africa, Spain, Ukraine, UK, US and Uruguay. As the literature also points out, those working in the Dutch video game industry have to carry out multiple roles and are involved in creating more than one type of game. These workers were most prominently involved in creating indie games (50.5%), AAA PC and console games (31%), and mobile games (24%), as well as in providing localisation services, middleware services and hardware. Nearly 28% of the respondents also noted other types of games or services, the most notable ones among them being applied (or serious) games (7%), web-based games (5%), AA PC and console games (4%) and artificial reality/virtual reality games (3%). In terms of job roles, participants were asked to describe their job roles which were later coded in Qualtrics based on the categorization given by Liming and Vilorio (2011). The findings remain consistent with observations that VGDs are multidisciplinarians and often hold multiple roles, with respondents primarily describing their roles as a mix of designers (48%), programmers (31%), artists (23%) and other major occupations (22%) such as founders, producers and audio workers.

Around a third of respondents either worked alone or in companies with less than 10 employees and another 39% in companies with less than 50 employees, while only 22% were in organisations with more than 100 employees. This was to be expected as the average company size in the Dutch video game industry remains small, at about 7 employees on average in 2018 (DGG, 2018).

Self-employed and freelancing individuals accounted for about 25% of the sample, while permanent full-time employees made up just 42% of the sample. The remaining were either part-time or temporary employees (24%) or others (10%), which included students or interns (5%) as well as those who held multiple jobs as employees and/or as self-employed. Compared to the artist labour market, these numbers seem encouraging as creative sectors have up to 2-3 times higher rates of self-employment than the US and European average of 20%-30% (European Commission, 2018; Creative Industries Federation, 2017; Partnership for Young London & Roundhouse, 2019). Notably in the Netherlands, 15.5% of the working people were self-employed (OECD, 2018). However, Weststar (2015) notes that the relatively low rate of self-employment hides the churn resulting from a project-based structure in the Dutch game industry as well, which is evident by the significant portion of part-time or temporary workers. This further is corroborated by the finding that while 55% of respondents had worked in the video game industry for more than 4 years, more than 73% had worked in the same organisation for less than 3 years. The number of respondents who had worked less

than a year in their current company (33%) was about double of those with less than one year of overall industry experience (16%).

Variables	Groups	N (n = 192)	%
Gender	Female	37	19
	Male	149	78
	Non-binary	6	3
Age	18 to 24 years	36	19
	25 to 29 years	62	32
	30 to 34 years	42	22
	35 to 39 years	26	14
	40 to 49 years	20	10
	50 to 65 years	6	3
Education	PhD	4	2
	Master	46	24
	Postgrad diploma	28	15
	Graduation	81	42
	Unfinished graduation	26	14
	High school, vocational or less	7	4
Location	The Netherlands	160	<u></u>
	Outside the Netherlands	23	12
VGD status	Ves	178	93
V GD status	No	14	7
Employment	Permanent full-time employee	81	42
status	Permanent part-time employee	10	5
	Temporary full-time employee	32	17
	Temporary part-time employee	4	2
	Self-employed	27	14
	Freelancer	18	9
	Other	20	10
Company Size	<10	61	32
	11-50	74	39
	51-100	15	8

Table 4.1: Summary statistics for socio-demographics

	101-500	26	14	
	>500	16	8	
Company Type*	AAA PC and console games	59	31	
	Indie games	97	51	
	Middle-ware company	5	3	
	Localisation	10	5	
	Mobile games	46	24	
	Hardware	3	1	
	Other*	53	28	
Job Role*	Designer	86	48	
	Programmer	55	31	
	Artists	41	23	
	Other major occupation	39	22	
	Other (uncategorized)	13	7	
Experience -	Less than 1 year	31	16	
Industry	1-3 years	54	28	
	4-6 years	46	24	
	7-10 years	23	12	
	More than 10 years	38	20	
	-			
Experience -	Less than 1 year	63	33	
Company	1-3 years	78	41	
	4-6 years	29	15	
	7-10 years	9	5	
	More than 10 years	13	7	
Fynerience	Less than 1 year	44	23	
Present Role	1-3 years	84	23 44	
	$A_{-6}$ years	35	18 18	
	7-10 years	13	10	
	Vore than 10 years	15	/ &	
	wore mail to years	10	0	

<b>D</b>	N.	(2	22	
Promotions	None	62	32	
	1	34	18	
	2	24	13	
	3	10	5	
	4 or more	12	6	
	Not applicable	50	26	
Work schedule	Regular or fixed hours	149	78	
	Irregular	37	19	
	Other	6	3	
Work model	On-site	27	14	
	Hybrid	111	58	
	Remote	53	28	
	Other	1	1	
Compensation	Fixed salary and benefits	124	65	
method	Hourly rate	20	10	
	Project-based	11	6	
	Self-generated revenue	26	14	
	Others	11	6	
Work hours per	Less than 16 hours	13	7	
week	16 to 35 hours	34	18	
	36 to 44 hours	120	63	
	45 to 60 hours	21	11	
	More than 60 hours	4	2	
Annual Income	Less than 14,000 euros	33	17	
	14,000-22,000 euros	13	7	
	22,000-38,000 euros	60	31	
	38,000-50,000 euros	27	14	
	50,000-60,000 euros	15	8	
	60,000-72,000 euros	16	8	
	72,000-100,000 euros	9	5	
	More than 100,000 euros	4	2	
	Other	15	8	

The data also showed that older and more experienced workers in the Dutch video game industry are more likely to be self-employed or freelancers than younger workers. So, while about 19% of under 30 respondents were self-employed or freelancers, for those over 40 years, the proportion increased to 45%. Only 36% of those with more than 10 years of industry experience were (permanent or temporary) full-time employees compared to 67% of those with less than 3 years of experience and 61% with 4-10 years of experience. In addition, most self-employed (93%) and freelancers (78%) worked in organisations with less than 10 employees (53%) and temporary part-time employees (75%) worked in companies with 11-50 employees. About 52% of full-time employees were in firms with less than 50 workers and 39.5% in organisations with over 100 workers.

In terms of work schedule, 19% of the respondents had an irregular work schedule, while about 13% worked more than 45 hours a week and 7% said they worked less than 16 hours. The number of people working more than 45 hours per week is significantly higher than the Netherlands' average of just 0.3% (OECD, n.d.). However, almost all of those working as temporary or part-time employees worked less than 45 hours a week, compared to about 16% of full-time employees, self-employed and freelancers working more than 45 hours a week. Meanwhile, only 14% had an onsite job role, while the remaining either worked remotely (28%) or in a hybrid manner (58%).

While about 65% of the respondents said that they received fixed salaries and benefits, the remaining were compensated through hourly rates, project-based and self-generated revenue or a mix of various sources. Notably, most employees had regular or fixed working schedules as well as fixed salaries and benefits, while more than half of self-employed/freelancers had irregular work schedules and made most of their income through compensation based on hourly or project rates or through self-generated revenues. Among those who indicated their annual income range, about 17% earned less than 14,000 euros, another 7% earned between 14,000 euros and 22,000 euros, and about 31% made between 22,000 euros to 38,000 euros. As per CBS (2023) household income distribution data for 2021, about 7% of households had income of less than 14,000 euros, 21% earned 14,000-22,000 euros, and another 43% made 22,000-38,000 euros. So even as the percentage of those making less than 14,000 euros is more than double the overall Dutch economy, incomes seem to be
better distributed across the range. For example, only about 6% of Dutch households had annual incomes higher than 60,000 euros, compared to 13% of the sample earning over 60,000 euros. The data also showed very few part-time or temporary employees earned more than 38,000 euros a year, compared to 45% of permanent full-time employees, 44% of self-employed and 33% of freelancers. While it may seem obvious, older and more experienced workers have a better income profile than younger workers, with about 80% of those below 24 years and 71% of 25 to 29-year-olds earning less than 38,000 euros. Meanwhile, 46% of those working in entities with less than 10 employees had income below 38,000 euros, 70% in companies with 11-50 employees but only 19% in large companies with over 500 workers. Among those who earned more than 60,000 euros, 55% belonged to companies with more than 100 workers, 24% to small firms with less than 10 people and the remaining 21% to companies with 11-100 employees. Detailed comparative analysis among various statistically significant sociodemographic variables can be found in Appendix E.

### 4.2 State of current working conditions of VGDs

In this section, H1 (VGDs in the Dutch video game industry also face workplace problems that are associated with the global video game industry) is tested. This was done by gauging if respondents identified with issues of low pay, excessive work, work pressure, retirement and health benefits, training, job security, discrimination, and harassment – problems that are commonly associated with poor working conditions in the video game industry (UNI Global Union, 2022; Weststar 2015; Mendes 2020). For this section, only those responses were considered where respondents had identified as being involved in the core video game development process and had completed all questions about working conditions, unionisation, representation and government support (n = 163). Table 4.2 presents the summary of responses to questions on working conditions.

Data shows that nearly a third of respondents said they were not adequately paid, 13% said they faced excessive hours (consistent with the number of people working over 45 hours a week), and 24% identified excessive workloads as an issue. Only 46% of respondents agreed that they were sufficiently paid. Regarding benefits, only 42% said they were provided adequate health benefits and 28% were provided adequate retirement benefits. Moreover, 22% of the respondents said they did not have a feeling of job security. While issues like microaggressions, discrimination and harassment were less prevalent, they too had a noticeable

presence with 9% identifying saying they faced micro-aggression/undue pressure or demands from their managers or supervisors. While only about 4% of respondents noted discrimination and/or harassment as a prevalent issue at their current workplace, almost 10% admitted having experienced discrimination or harassment based on disability, ethnicity, gender, race, or sexuality and 3% had experienced or witnessed sexual harassment. Overall, the results show that the workplace issues associated with the video game industry are also present in the Dutch market to varying degrees. Therefore, hypothesis H1 can be accepted and it can be said that workplace issues associated with the global video game industry as well as CCI industries are prevalent in the Dutch video game industry.

Description (n = 163)	Yes (N (%))	No	Not Sure
Whether paid adequately	75 (46%)	53 (33%)	35 (21%)
Whether worked excessive hours often	22 (13%)	131 (80%)	10 (5.4%)
Whether faced excessive workloads often	39 (24%)	105 (64%)	19 (12%)
Whether faced micro-aggression/undue pressure or demands	14 (9%)	134 (82%)	15 (9%)
Whether offered adequate health (including mental) benefits	69 (42%)	44 (27%)	50 (31%)
Whether provided adequate retirement benefits	45 (28%)	58 (36%)	60 (37%)
Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	38 (23%)	102 (63%)	23 (14%)
Feeling of job security at current workplace	93 (57%)	36 (22%)	34 (21%)
Whether discrimination/harassment is a workplace issue	8 (5%)	140 (86%)	15 (9%)
Whether faced or witnessed discrimination and/or harassment	17 (10%)	140 (86%)	6 (4%)
Whether faced or witnessed sexual harassment	5 (3%)	154 (94%)	4 (2%)
Whether employer response to discrimination/harassment was adequate* (N = 16)	5 (29%)	6 (35%)	6 (35%)

#### Table 4.2: Summary of Responses for working conditions

Compared to the wider VGD market, low pay seems less prevalent as 61% of VGDs identified low pay as a workplace issue in the UNI Global Union (2022) survey. While the UNI Global survey said that 43% of VGDs faced excessive work, in this study 24% said they faced excessive workloads. In terms of benefits, 43% of global VGDs said they were inadequate. Compared to 22% of respondents in the Dutch game industry who said that there was low job security, 37% of global VGDs identified with the issue. However, workplace discrimination and/or sexual harassment seem a less prevalent issue in the Dutch game industry compared to 35% of global VGDs (UNI Global Union, 2022).

Using Qualtrics' Stats iQ feature, various sociodemographic variables for working conditions were correlated to determine statistically significant relations, which are summarised in Table 4.3. Among the most notable relations that emerged was that those who identified as women or non-binary felt that discrimination and/or harassment was a workplace issue and had higher instances of having witnessed workplace discrimination based on disability, ethnicity, gender, race or sexuality. Employment status also formed significant relations with several working condition variables, with a majority (57.8%) of the respondents who said they received adequate retirement benefits being permanent full-time employees, while freelancers, self-employed, temporary or other employees accounted for 60.4% of those with proper retirement benefits. At the same time, permanent and temporary full-time employees made up 75% of the respondents who said that discrimination and/or harassment was a workplace issue as well as 71% of the respondents who identified with a lack of access to training and/or software at their workplace. In terms of job security, permanent full-time employees accounted for 55% of the respondents who believed that there was job security at their workplace, while freelancers, temporary employees, self-employed and others made up 75% of the respondents without feelings of job security. The size of the company was a critical factor impacting access to training and/or software as organisations with more than 500 employees facing a lack of access to such facilities had much higher frequency than smaller companies. Work experience in the game industry was found to have statistically significant relations with variables for adequate pay and benefits. Nearly 75% of workers who were unsatisfied with their pay had worked less than four years in the industry; 70.5% of the similarly experienced workers were also unsatisfied with their health benefits and 64% with their retirement benefits. Those who had regular or fixed working hours and/or fixed salary and benefits were less likely to have feelings of job insecurity. Given the number of hours per week,

those who were unsatisfied with their wages were also likely to work for 36 hours to more than 60 hours a week.

Table 4.3: Summary of statistically significant	correlations betw	ween working	condition
indicators and sociodemographic variables.			

Working condition indicators	Statistical significance	р
Whether paid adequately	Income range Industry experience	0.00521** 0.0379*
Whether worked excessive hours often	Income range Hours per week	0.00198** < 0.00001***
Whether faced excessive workloads often	Hours per week	0.00144**
Whether faced micro- aggression/undue pressure or demands	Gender	0.0188*
Whether provided adequate retirement benefits	Employment status	0.0473*
Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	Company size Employment status Compensation method	0.0120* 0.0121* 0.000858***
Feeling of job security at current workplace	Work schedule Experience - organisation Compensation method Employment status	0.00173** 0.0180* 0.00690** 0.00305**
Whether discrimination/harassment is a workplace issue	Gender Employment status	0.0256* 0.0262*
Whether faced or witnessed discrimination and/or harassment	Gender Compensation method	0.0209* 0.0473*

### \*p≤.050\*\*p≤.010\*\*\*p≤.001

The present study also sought personal experiences of discrimination and harassment in the Dutch video game industry that they might have faced. A thematic content analysis of the 27 relevant responses showed that diversity-related discrimination, especially based on ethnicity or nationality, and/or sexuality and gender identity are the most prevalent ones. Respondents noted experiences such as "not being hired or treated differently due to notspeaking Dutch" and "silent treatment by my immediate supervisor upon discovery of my bisexuality". Continuing the overall theme of a male-oriented culture, gender discrimination experiences were also frequent, with respondents often noting low wages, patronising behaviour, improper conduct and differential treatment among key issues. Multiple respondents noted the commonality of sexist remarks in the wider video game industry. One respondent wrote about her experience at Gamescom video game trade fair, stating that even though "my job description was the same as my (male) colleagues...most investors/agents thought I was the hostess of the area or a boot babe. I didn't feel taken seriously!" Another respondent faced "intimidation for teaching about the benefits of intersectional feminism, occasional low-level biphobia from queer and straight communities, [and] threatening notes left on my desk by a very conservative student." Another respondent recollected sexist remarks "like did you model those boobs after your own?...or you would have gotten more traction if you had put your cute smiling face in the picture instead of just your work."

Two respondents also faced sexual harassment at their previous workplace. Behavioural issues of managers or senior employees were also a recurrent theme, including instances of bullying and narcissistic behaviour. One respondent said their personal experience included "gender bias, gaslighting, micro-aggressions, patronising behaviour, triangulation, lack of promotions in comparison to male colleagues (or slower promotions)."

The present study also captured VGDs' opinions about working conditions in the Dutch video game industry. A thematic content analysis of the 87 valid and relevant responses, showed that crunch or long work hours as well as low pay or unpaid work were among the most serious workplace issues faced by the VGDs. One respondent noted that "in many companies, it is widely accepted and indeed expected for employees to do structural overtime without compensation. In some companies this is the norm always, in other companies, it's for crunch time around deadlines only." Of the 87 comments, 24 comments mentioned the presence of crunch or long hours while 23 noted the prevalence of low-paid or unpaid work. Other issues emerging in the thematic analysis that indicate poor working conditions included a lack of job security, a lack of unions as well as major workplace disparities between companies.

Nonetheless, about a fifth of comments were also seemingly positive, with some noting notable improvement in working conditions over the past few years and that compared to other markets, "on whole working conditions in the Netherlands are pretty good." About half of the commentators also suggested measures to improve the working conditions, with the most

notable ones being unionisation, government intervention or regulation, standardisation of industry expectations and better health and retirement benefits. Several respondents said that either the practice of crunch should be abolished or the project schedule should be improved by organisations. The most common themes could probably be summarised by one response: "Crunch is brutal in most companies. And most workers are regarded as disposable. Unions would probably be able to deal with both."

#### 4.3 Unionisation, representation and government support

In this section hypotheses H2a (VGDs in the Dutch video game industry strongly support unionisation and collective bargaining) and H2b (VGDs in the Dutch video game industry show a strong desire for government support) are tested. Table 4.3 presents the summary of responses on unionisation and representation.

Concerning unionisation, almost 96% of the respondents said they were not members of any union, and those who were union members were not based in the Netherlands. Only 15% of the respondents said they were members of any professional association representing video game developers. At the same time, while 61% of the respondents said that unions could benefit VGDs, only 44% supported forming one at their workplace. While only 18% were outright opposed to it, almost 28% indicated no preference. Similarly, 33% said that they were not sure about the benefits of unionisation. Furthermore, 56% of respondents said they supported collective bargaining rights but at the same time, 12% were against it and 32% were not sure. Therefore, overall while there is favourable support for unionisation and collective bargaining rights, a significant portion of respondents demonstrated a lack of firm opinion on the issues. So while the responses generally favour unionisation and collective bargaining, they cannot be considered strong support for the issues. As a result, hypothesis H2a is rejected.

What the results show is that while there is favourable support for unions in the industry, a significant number were not sure about unionisation, which could be due to a lack of understanding about collective labour rights among video game developers as well as reservations about potential implications of unionisation on their jobs.

Variables	Group	Ν	%
Union membership	Yes	6	4%
	No	157	96%
Association membership	Yes	25	15%
	No	138	85%
Support unions at workplace	Yes	69	44%
	No	28	18%
	Not sure	60	28%

## Table 4.4: Summary of Responses on Unionisation and Representation

Preferred union type	A union at company/studio	10	6%
	A national industry union Fither	91 38	56% 23%
	Neither	24	15%

Union perception as beneficial	Yes	99 10	61%
	Not sure	10 54	33%

Perceived Union drawbacks	Union fees and other costs	64	39%
	Negative impact on game		
	development/release schedules	43	26%
	Lack of individuality	44	27%
	None	42	26%
	Other	32	20%

Support collective bargaining	Yes	91	56%
	No	20	12%
	Not sure	52	32%

In terms of government support, only 6% of the respondents believed that there was adequate government support from video game developers, while 67% said that the government should offer more support to video game developers. Additionally, given that only 8% of the respondents were outright opposed to additional government support, it can be concluded that there is a strong desire for government support and hypothesis H2b can be accepted. This is especially notable because there is little specific government support available for video game developers in the Netherlands (EDGF & ISFE, 2020). Demands for grants and subsidies for independent developers were the most frequent type of government support sought by developers, followed by income tax breaks or incentives and stronger intellectual property protection. Among other specific types of government support sought by VGDs, demand for the provision of collective labour agreements or collective bargaining policies was

most common, followed by increased startup funding support and union formation support. Table 4.5 presents the summary of responses on government support.

Variable Name	Group (n = 145)	Ν	%
Government support availability	Yes No Not sure	9 85 69	6% 52% 42%
Government support expectation	Yes No Not sure	110 13 40	67% 8% 25%
Government support type	Income tax breaks or incentives Grants or subsidies for independent VGDs Stronger intellectual property protection Other	77 123 43 33	47% 75% 26% 20%

#### Table 4.5: Summary of Responses on Government support

Testing of statistical significance of support for unions, government support and collective bargaining, yielded relationships with income range, industry experience, work schedule, and hours per week, as summarized in Table 4.5. Almost two-thirds of the respondents who supported collective bargaining rights earned less than 38,000 euros annually,

while 60% of those in opposition earned over 50,000 euros annually. Meanwhile, of those who worked between 36-44 hours, 55% supported unionisation, which was almost double the support of unions shown by other categories of work hours per week. The majority of workers (around 59%) with less than 10 years of industry experience were supportive of collective bargaining rights only 44% with more than 10 years of experience supported it and were twice as likely to oppose it. The support for government interventions was most visible among those who worked more than 36 hours a week, while about 53% of those who were against government support worked less than 36 hours a week.

Table 4.6: Summary of statistically significant correlations between unionisation,

Working condition indicators	Statistical significance	р
Support unions at workplace	Hours per week Industry experience	0.00521** 0.0379*
Support collective bargaining	Age Hours per week Work schedule Industry experience Income range	0.0354* 0.0454* 0.0366* 0.0471* 0.0263*
Government support expectation	Hours per week	0.00834**

representation and government support indicators and sociodemographic variables.

#### \*p≤.050\*\*p≤.010\*\*\*p≤.001

The most commonly perceived benefits of unionisation were the possibility of better pay and benefits, improved working conditions and increased job security. Only 8% of respondents said that unionisation would incur no benefits. But why might a video game developer oppose a union? About 39% said they were concerned about union fees and other costs, while 26% believed union activity could harm game development and release schedules and lead to a lack of individuality. Among the other drawbacks mentioned by VGDs, that were thematically analysed, fear of discrimination against unionised employees stood the most, with one respondent noting that "organisations [will be] targeting individuals that are part of [a] union, not hiring them, or blacklisting them in general." Concerns that unions might prove ineffective or hinder organisational flexibility were also mentioned, along with some noting that it could lead to over-regulation of the industry.

#### 4.4 Quality of work life and burnout levels

In this section hypotheses H3a (VGDs in the Dutch video game industry have low quality of work life) and H3b (VGDs in the Dutch video game industry show significant levels of disengagement and exhaustion) are tested. Table 4.5 and Table 4.6 show summary statistics for QWLS and OLBI measures, respectively.

#### 4.4.1 Quality of work life

To test H3a, only those respondents who had completed all 16 statements of QWLS were considered, yielding a sample of 147 respondents. The mean value score of QWLS value was calculated to be 5.3 (Table 4.7), which indicates that VGDs in the Dutch video game industry had a moderately good quality of work life. While this leads to the rejection of hypothesis H3a, there are caveats to the findings.

Table 4.7: Summary statistics for QWLS variables

Description (n = 147)	Mean score
Health and safety needs (NShs)	5.3
Economic and family needs (NSef)	4.5
Social needs (NSs)	5.4
Esteem needs (NSt)	5.6
Actualization needs (NSa)	5.0
Knowledge needs (NSk)	5.5
Aesthetic needs (NScs)	5.3
QWLS mean score	5.25

Statistical significance tests, as summarized in Table 4.8, showed that QWLS was correlated to gender, compensation method, employment status, promotions and company size.

The data shows that female and non-binary participants had lower quality of work-life compared to male peers. Those working in smaller organisations with less than 50 employees tend to have a better QWL than those in larger companies, with companies with 101-500 workers faring the worst. Those with fixed salaries and benefits showed poorer QWL than those depending on self-generated revenue. It was the same for employment status, wherein those working as self-employed individuals had the best quality of work life among peers, even as freelancers and temporary full-time employees reported lower than average quality of work life. When compared to working condition indicator variables, those who identified with issues of low pay, excessive workloads and work hours, microaggression/undue pressure, lack of health and retirement benefits, lack of access to training and/or software, lack of job security and discrimination and/or harassment as a workplace issue, also had noticeably lower QWLS scores than those who didn't. Those who faced microaggression/undue pressure or demands at work and identified discrimination and/or harassment as workplace issues had the lowest QWLS scores. Among those who supported unionisation and collective bargaining rights, QWLS scores were noticeably lower than those who opposed them.

Sociodemographic characteristics			
Variable	Characteristic	QWLS score	р
Gender	Male	5.37	0.000210
	Female	4.90	***
	Non-binary	4.28	
Compensation Method	Fixed salary and benefits	5.13	0.0125*
	Hourly rate	5.37	
	Project-based	5.30	
	Self-generated revenue	5.83	
	Others (please specify)	4.91	
Employment Status	Permanent full-time employee	5.29	0.0156*
	Permanent part-time employee	4.98	
	Temporary full-time employee	4.70	
	Temporary part-time employee	5.84	
	Self-employed	5.75	
	Freelancer	4.92	
	Other (please specify)	5.42	
Promotions	None	5.02	0.0334*

Table 4.8: Comparative analysis of QWLS score with variable groups

	1	5.03	
	2	5.25	
		5.16	
	4 or more	5.62	
	Not applicable	5.62	
	i tot appiloable	5.05	
Company Size	<10	5.56	0.0188*
	11-50	5.21	
	51-100	4.98	
	101-500	4.89	
	>500	5.00	
	Working condition indicators		
Whather raid adaguately	Ver	5 65	
whether paid adequatery	T es	3.03	0.00001*
	Not Sure	4.72	**
	Not Sure	5.10	
Whathar worked excessive	Var	4.52	0.0270*
hours often	I es	4.33	0.0379
nours often	INO Nat Sauce	5.57	
Whether faced excessive	Yes	4.69	0.000243
workloads often	No	5.48	***
	Not Sure	5.12	
Whether faced micro-	Yes	3.97	0.00206*
aggression/undue pressure	No	5.42	*
or demands	Not Sure	4.76	
Whether offered adequate	Yes	5.64	<
health (including mental)	No	4.55	0.00001*
benefits	Not Sure	5.32	**
		0.02	

Whether provided adequate retirement benefits	Yes No Not Sure	5.54 4.89 5.43	0.00116* *
Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	Yes No Not Sure	4.38 5.59 5.14	< 0.00001* **
Feeling of job security at current workplace	Yes No Not Sure	5.56 4.64 5.04	0.000166 ***
Whether discrimination/harassment is a workplace issue	Yes No Not Sure	3.87 5.39 4.79	0.00435*
Whether faced or witnessed discrimination and/or harassment	Yes No Not Sure	4.81 5.34 4.72	0.213#
Whether faced or witnessed sexual harassment	Yes No Not Sure	4.58 5.29 4.86	0.331#
Unionisation governm	ent support collective hard	aining indicators	

Union perception as beneficial	Yes No Not Sure	5.03 5.51 5.58	0.0114*
Union support at workplace	Yes No	5.02 5.28	0.0256*
	Not Sure	5.50	
Support collective	Yes	5.13	0.0489*
bargaining	No	5.69	
	Not Sure	5.31	

\*p≤.050\*\*p≤.010\*\*\*p≤.001#at least one group tends to have higher values than other groups

#### 4.4.2 Disengagement and Exhaustion

For testing H3b, only those respondents who had completed all 16 statements of OLBI were considered, generating a sample of 144 respondents. As indicated in Table 4.9, burnout subscales of disengagement and exhaustion were calculated to be 1.9 and 2.6. So while this indicates moderate levels of disengagement, exhaustion levels were significant. Therefore H3b can be partially accepted as the data shows a notable presence of burnout, if not significantly high.

#### Table 4.9: Summary statistics for OLBI subscales

Subscale (n = 139)	Mean
Disengagement	1.9
Exhaustion	2.6

As shown in Table 4.10, disengagement formed statistically significant relationships with various demographic variables including gender, employment status, industry work experience and company size. Once again, women and non-binary respondents had higher levels of disengagement than male VGDs and it was the same for those with less than three years of experience, who were relatively more disengaged than their more experienced peers. Meanwhile, temporary full-time employees and permanent part-time employees were most disengaged, while self-employed recorded the lowest level of disengagement among VGDs. Similarly, there was notably lower disengagement among employees of smaller companies.

Sociodemographic characteristics					
Variable	Characteristic	Disengage ment score	р		
Gender	Male Female Non-binary	1.84 2.15 2.78	0.0140*		
Age	Under 40 Over 40	1.97 1.67	0.0371*		
Employment Status	Permanent full-time employee Permanent part-time employee Temporary full-time employee Temporary part-time employee Self-employed Freelancer Other (please specify)	1.92 2.16 2.24 1.72 1.51 1.97 1.92	0.0547#		
Company Size	<10 11-50 51-100 101-500 >500	1.81 1.86 2.26 2.02 2.44	0.0424*		
	Working condition indicators				
Whether paid adequately	Yes No Not Sure	1.70 2.21 1.99	0.00167		
Whether faced micro- aggression/undue pressure or demands	Yes No Not Sure	2.60 1.83 2.25	< 0.00001 ***		
Whether offered adequate health (including mental) benefits	Yes No Not Sure	1.78 2.30 1.82	0.00408		

# Table 4.10: Comparative analysis of disengagement sub-scale score with variable groups

Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	Yes No Not Sure	2.44 1.71 2.03	0.00006 24***
Feeling of job security at current workplace	Yes No Not Sure	1.79 2.25 2.04	0.0295*
Whether discrimination/harassment is a workplace issue	Yes No Not Sure	2.48 1.85 2.37	0.0104*
Whether faced or witnessed discrimination and/or harassment	Yes No Not Sure	2.26 1.85 2.60	0.00548
Whether faced or witnessed sexual harassment	Yes No Not Sure	2.40 1.89 2.66	0.0874#

\*p≤.050\*\*p≤.010\*\*\*p≤.001#while not significant, at least one group tends to have higher values for Disengagement than other groups

As summarized in Table 4.11, exhaustion not only seems to have a greater presence among VGDs in the Dutch video game industry but is also significantly related to gender and hours worked per week. In what may have become a recurring theme, women and non-binary participants had notably higher levels of exhaustion than the average for male respondents. Exhaustion levels also increased with the number of hours spent per week working.

Soci	odemographic characteristics		
Variable	Characteristic	QWLS score	р
Gender	Male	2.59	0.0534#
	Female	2.94	
	Non-binary	2.90	
Hours per week	Less than 16 hours	2.46	0.0456*
	16 to 35 hours	2.52	
	36 to 44 hours	2.67	
	45 to 60 hours	2.88	
	More than 60 hours	3.13	
W	orking condition indicators		
Whether paid adequately	Ves	2 55	0 0114
whether paid deequatery	No	2.85	**
	Not Sure	2.63	
Whether worked excessive hours often	Yes No Not Sure	3.20 2.57 2.86	0.0002 6***
Whether faced excessive workloads often	Yes No Not Sure	2.95 2.51 2.97	0.0000 19***
Whether faced micro- aggression/undue pressure or demands	Yes No Not Sure	3.20 2.58 3.00	0.0029

# Table 4.11: Comparative analysis of exhaustion sub-scale score with variable groups

Whether offered adequate health (including mental) benefits	Yes No Not Sure	2.48 3.01 2.64	0.00001 76***
Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	Yes No Not Sure	2.88 2.58 2.70	0.0234*
Feeling of job security at current workplace	Yes No Not Sure	2.57 2.84 2.79	0.0408*
Whether discrimination/harassment is a workplace issue	Yes No Not Sure	3.17 2.59 3.13	0.00062 3**
Unionisation, g	overnment support, collective bargaining ind	icators	
Union perception as beneficial	Yes No Not Sure	2.76 2.77 2.49	0.0318*
Union support at workplace	Yes No Not Sure	5.02 5.28 5.50	0.0256*

Support collective	Yes	2.79 0.0146*
bargaining	No	2.44
	Not Sure	2.54

 $p \le .050 + p \le .010 + p \le .001$ #At least one group tends to have higher values for *Exhaustion'* than other groups

### 5. Discussions and conclusions

"Games, in the twenty-first century, will be a primary platform for enabling the future" (McGonigal, 2011, p. 13). However, in order to contextualise the future, it is necessary to disseminate the present and understand its implications. With this view, this study applied an occupational perspective to understand the current state of working conditions of video game developers and their desire for representation and government support. Given the lack of localised research perspectives about video game developers, the Dutch video game industry was chosen as a case study as it is a young and growing sector in the country and the Netherlands' labour market conditions provide a contrasting backdrop to analyse an industry notorious for its poor working conditions.

The findings of this study highlighted that video game developers in the Dutch video game industry also face various workplace issues often associated with the video game industry as well as wider creative and cultural industries.

While poor workplace conditions are somewhat less prevalent than in the overall video game industry, they still have a significant presence in the market, with issues like excessive workloads, inadequate payments, inadequate health and retirement benefits and job insecurity being the most prevalent ones. Gender discrimination in the Dutch game industry remains a concerning issue as male dominance in the workforce outpaces the wider video game industry as well as the general labour market in the Netherlands. While self-employment rates in the Dutch game industry were comparable to wider labour markets, they are seemingly lower from an artist market perspective. However, consistent with Weststar's (2015) assertion that the relatively low rate of self-employment hides the churn resulting from a project-based structure, which is evident by the significant portion of part-time or temporary workers in the Dutch game industry. Moreover, the study also discovered most VGDs in the Dutch video game industry make less than the median income and a significant percentage identify low pay and excessive workloads or work hours as a prevalent issue. While overall, harassment and discrimination have a lesser presence, those who identified as women or non-binary felt that discrimination and/or harassment was a workplace issue at a greater rate and had higher instances of having witnessed workplace discrimination based on disability, ethnicity, gender, race or sexuality. Moreover, the data shows that full-time employees had a better feeling of job security compared to their freelance or self-employed peers but fared worse on other parameters. While unionisation is generally seen favourably among the VGDs under study, there is a fair amount of unclarity and concerns about collective representation. Nonetheless, views about unionisation and collective bargaining were more positive among those who earned less or had few years of experience in the industry.

To gain a better understanding of the findings, an informal interview with Martine Spaans, who is the general manager at the Dutch Gaming Association and a game publisher at FGL & Tamalaki). In the context of unionisation, the results make more sense when seen from the perspective of Spaans, who said that with solutions like unions, "it's kind of trying to, you know, fit a square peg into a round hole sometimes, like, it's not sort of the fitting solution, like not customised to...whoever, whatever job this person has." She reiterated the game industry would need a "customised solution" before there is more interest from the industry to adopt something like unionisation.

The study also highlights a remarkable lack of government support and VGDs' expectations regarding it. Grants and subsidies for independent developers, income tax breaks or incentives, stronger intellectual property protection and collective labour agreements were the types of government support most sought after by developers. Spaans also notes that "Germany has a 70 million game fund Belgium has a 50 million game funds and the Netherlands currently has nothing," adding that a government-backed game fund could make it "easier for developers to set up sort of newer, more innovative and challenging projects."

QWLS measure and the burnout measure indicated a moderate presence of poor quality of work life and disengagement as well as notable levels of exhaustion. Two key themes emerged from QWL and burnout measures - the first was that women and non-binary VGDs face higher levels of occupational stressors. Notably, those working on fixed salaries and benefits showed the highest levels of exhaustion, with those earning self-generated revenues having the least amount of exhaustion.

A thematic content analysis of open questions showed that crunch or long work hours as well as low pay or unpaid work were among the most serious workplace issues faced by the VGDs. Other issues emerging in the thematic analysis that indicate poor working conditions included a lack of job security, a lack of unions as well as major workplace disparities between companies. Nonetheless, some views were seemingly positive, with some noting notable improvement in working conditions over the past few years and that compared to other markets, "on whole working conditions in the Netherlands are pretty good." Among the several suggested measures to improve working conditions, the most notable ones are unionisation, government intervention or regulation, standardisation of industry expectations and better health and retirement benefits. Several respondents said that either the practice of crunch should be abolished or projected scheduling should be improved by organisations.

### 5.1 Limitations and future research

Regardless of the findings, it is pertinent to note certain limitations of this study. While efforts were taken to cover the widest possible gamut of VGDs in the Dutch video game industry, the generability of the findings may be limited by the sample size and its specific focus on a localised market. In addition, the cross-sectional nature of the study can make it challenging to establish causal relationships between the variables.

For future research, longitudinal studies could be conducted to explore the changes in working conditions and unionisation in the Dutch video game market over time. In addition, future investigation into the impact of unionisation on the working conditions of video game developers could provide a richer understanding of the underlying factors. Exploring the potential for industry-wide collaboration and collective bargaining among VGDs is also a subject ripe for investigation.

This research has not only the potential to add to the existing knowledge base about VGDs but also has implications for practice as it can provide essential insights to policymakers and industry players regarding shortcomings in job conditions in the Dutch game industry as well as possible interventions to improve those conditions. The research can be used to draw inferences about the attractiveness of the Dutch game industry for a growing talent pool which can easily access more mature video game-producing markets through immigration and remote working.

### References

- Abbing, H. (2008). *Why are artists poor? the exceptional economy of the arts*. Amsterdam UniversityPress
- Afroz, Saman. (2018). Quality of Work Life: A Conceptual Model. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327987586\_Quality\_of\_Work\_Life\_A\_Con ceptual\_Model
- Association of the Compendium of Cultural Policies and Trends, "Compendium of Cultural Policies and Trends," 20th edition 2019. Available under: . ISSN: 2222-7334.
- Bakker, A. (2014, June 20). The Oldenburg Burnout Inventory: A good alternative to measure burnout and engagement. https://www.academia.edu/2796247/The\_Oldenburg\_Burnout\_Inventory\_A\_good\_alt ernative\_to\_measure\_burnout\_and\_engagement
- Banks, J. and Cunningham, S. (2013). Games and entertainment software, In R. Towse and
  C. Hanke(eds) *Handbook of the Digital Creative Economy Cultural Economics*,
  Edward Elgar Pub pp. 416-428
- Bora, B., Das, S., Murthy, D.V. (2015), "Quality of Work Life A Literature Review," International Journal in Management and Social Science, Vol. 3, Issue 3, p. 106-115. https://tinyurl.com/mvnu82cw
- Borowiecki, K. J., & Prieto-Rodriguez, J. (2015). Video games playing: A substitute for cultural consumptions? Journal of Cultural Economics, 39(3), 239–258. http://www.jstor.org/stable/44280334
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (Fifth). Oxford University Press.
- Cadin, L., and Guerin, F. (2006). What can we learn from the video games industry? European Management Journal, 24(4), 248-255.

- CBS. (2022, January 17).How Many Workers Belong to a Trade Union? the Netherlands in Numbers 2021 | CBS. https://longreads.cbs.nl/the-netherlands-in-numbers-2021/howmany-workers-belong-to-a-trade-union/
- CBS. (2023). *Income distribution (standardised income)*. Statistics Netherlands. https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/visualisations/income-distribution
- Clemente, F. (2021). The Voice: Fran Lebowitz. *Interview Magazine*. https://www.interviewmagazine.com/culture/fran-lebowitz
- Coles, A., (2016) Creative class politics: unions and the creative economy, International Journal of Cultural Policy, 22:3, 456-472, DOI: 10.1080/10286632.2014.994612
- Creative Industries Federation. (2017, July). Creative Freelancers | Creative Industries Federation. www.Creativeindustriesfederation.Com. https://www.creativeindustriesfederation.com/sites/default/files/2017-07/Creative%20Freelancers%201.0.pdf
- Daniel, Dr. Cross Ogohi "Analysis of Quality Work Life on Employees Performance"
   International Journal of Business and Management Invention (IJBMI), vol. 08, no. 02, 2019, pp 60-65.
- Demerouti, E., Mostert, K. & Bakker, A. B. (2010). Burnout and Work Engagement. Journal of Occupational Health Psychology, 15 (3), 209-222. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019408
- Dorigatti, L., Been, W. M., Burroni, L., Keune, M., Larsen, T. P., & Mailand, M. (2022). Playing alone? Interest representation in the videogame industry in Denmark, Italy and the Netherlands. Economic and Industrial Democracy, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/0143831X221129651
- Dutch Games Association. (2023, May 16). *About DGA Dutch Games Association*. https://dutchgamesassociation.nl/about-dga/

- Dutch Game Garden (DGG). (2019). DGG GamesMonitor 2018. https://www.dutchgamegarden.nl/games-monitor/.
- Dutch Game Garden. (2021). 2020 update- Covid Impact. https://www.dutchgamegarden.nl/games-monitor/
- Dutch Game Garden (2022). Games Monitor 2022: Dutch Game Industry Is on the Road to Maturity. (2022, October 10). Dutch Game Garden. https://www.dutchgamegarden.nl/games-monitor-2022-dutch-game-industry-is-onthe-ro+ad-to-maturity/
- European Commission. (2018). Self-employment on the rise | Knowledge for policy. https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/foresight/topic/changing-naturework/self-employment-rises-women-are-more-solopreneurs-then-men\_en
- European Game Developers Federation (EGDF) & Interactive Software Federation of Europe (ISFE). (2020). 2020 European Video Games Industry Insights report. Retrieved June 14, 2023, from https://www.egdf.eu/wp-content/uploads/2022/08/2020-data-industryreport.pdf
- Filipovic, Ivana & Cvetković, Kristina. (2020). Video Games as an Apogee of Creative Industries. 79-86.
- Forsdick, S. (2018, November 16). Dark side of working in the video game industry. NS Business. https://www.ns-businesshub.com/business/working-conditions-in-the-video-gameindustry/
- Fortune Business Insights. (2022). Video Games Market Size, Growth | Global Industry Trends 2029. https://www.fortunebusinessinsights.com/video-game-market-102548
- Fricker, R.D., Jr. (2017). Sampling Methods for Online Surveys, Handbook of Online Research Methods, 2nd edition, N. Fielding, R.M. Lee and G. Blank, eds., chapter 10,

London: SAGE Publications.

- Gai, R. (2022). Video Game. The Chicago School of Media Theory. *The University of Chicago*. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://lucian.uchicago.edu/blogs/mediatheory/keywords/video-game/
- Galanina, E. (2018). Social and Cultural Impacts of Video Games, How Are We Affected byVideo Games. Proceedings of the 31st International Business InformationManagement Association Conference (IBIMA).
- GlobeNewswire. (2023, March 20). Global Book Publishing Market to Reach \$108.8 Billion by 2030. Yahoo Finance. Retrieved June 2, 2023, from https://finance.yahoo.com/news/global-book-publishing-market-reach-123200758.html#:~:text=In%20the%20changed%20post%20COVID,over%20the%2 0period%202022%2D2030.
- Grayson, N. (2021, September 17). Activision Blizzard lawsuit has video game workers using union tactics — but not unionizing. *Washington Post*. https://www.washingtonpost.com/video-games/2021/09/17/activision-blizzard-riotubisoft-harassment-union/
- Halbesleben J. R. B., & Demerouti, E. (2005). The construct validity of an alternative measure of burnout: Investigating the English translation of the Oldenburg Burnout Inventory. Work & Stress, 19(3), 208-220.
- Hanke C. and Towse R. (2013). (eds) Handbook of the Digital Creative Economy Cultural Economics, Edward Elgar Pub pp. 416-428
- Hesmondhalgh D. & Baker S. (2011) Creative Labour: Media Work in Three Cultural Industries. Abingdon and New York: Routledge.
- IFPI. (2023). IFPI The global music report-state of the industry. In *IFPI.org*. from https://ifpi-website-cms.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/GMR\_2023\_State\_of\_the\_Industry\_ee2ea600e2.pdf

- International Game Developers Association (IGDA). (2021). Developer Satisfaction Survey: Summary Report [2021] – IGDA. Retrieved March 6, https://igda-website.s3.us-east-2.amazonaws.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/18113901/IGDA-DSS-2021\_SummaryReport\_2021.pdf
- Kattoulas, Velisarios (2002). *Pop Master*. (2002, November 17). TIME.com. https://content.time.com/time/subscriber/article/0,33009,391572,00.html
- Keogh, B., & Abraham, B. (2022). Challenges and opportunities for collective action and unionization in local games industries. Organization, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/13505084221082269
- Kirby, Alan. (2009). Another interview I gave (long, but good I hope). https://digimodernism.blogspot.com/2009/08/another-interview-i-gave-long-but-good.html
- Klimas, P. (2018). Key resources in game developers' business models. Journal of Management and Financial Science, (31).
- Legault, Marie-Josee and Weststar, Johanna, "Videogame developers among 'extreme workers': Are death marches over?" (2017). Management and Organizational Studies Publications. 18. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/mospub/18</u>
- Liming, D. & Vilorio, D. (2011). "Work for play: Careers in video game development," Career Outlook, U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, September 2011. https://www.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2011/fall/art01.pdf
- Massey, D. S., & Tourangeau, R. (2013). Introduction: New Challenges to Social Measurement. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 645(1), 6–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716212463314
- McGonigal, J. (2011). Reality is broken: Why games make us better and how they can change the world.

- Mendes, J. C. D. B. M. (2020). Burnout and job demand and resources among Game Developers.
- Motion Picture Association. (2022). A comprehensive analysis and survey of the theatrical and home/mobile entertainment market environment for 2021. (n.d.).
  In *Motion Picture Association*. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://www.motionpictures.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/MPA-2021-THEME-Report-FINAL.pdf
- Muriel, Daniel & Crawford, Garry. (2018). Video Games As Culture: Considering the Role and Importance of Video Games in Contemporary Society. 10.4324/9781315622743.
- Newzoo. (2023). Newzoo Global Games Market Report 2022 | Free Version. https://newzoo.com/resources/trend-reports/newzoo-global-games-market-report-2022-free-version
- Nieborg, D. B., & de Kloet, J. (2016). A Patchwork of Potential: A Survey of the European Game Industry. *Global Game Industries and Cultural Policy*, 201–226. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-40760-9\_10
- OECD (n.d.). *Better Life Index Work-Life Balance*. oecdbetterlifeindex.org. Retrieved June 6, 2023, from https://www.oecdbetterlifeindex.org/topics/work-life-balance/
- OECD (2018). Inclusive Entrepreneurship Policies: Country Assessment Notes: Netherlands, 2018. In *oecd.org*. Retrieved June 6, 2023, from <u>https://www.oecd.org/cfe/smes/NETHERLANDS-Country-Note-2018.pdf</u>
- Partnership for Young London & Roundhouse. (2019, July). Self-Made Sector. https://roundhouse-assets.s3.amazonaws.com/assets/File/14972.pdf

Publications Office of the European Union. (2012). Europeans and their languages :

special Eurobarometer. 386, June 2012. Publications Office of the EU. https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/f551bd64-8615-4781-9be1c592217dad83

- Radulovski, A. (2022). Women in Technology Statistics: Where are We? Women in Tech Network. Retrieved June 2, 2023, from https://www.womentech.net/en-us/womentechnology-statistics
- Razak, N. A., Ma'amor, H., & Hassan, N. (2016). Measuring reliability and validity instruments of work environment towards quality work life. Procedia Economics and Finance, 37, 520–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30160-5
- Read, S. (2022, July 29). Gaming boomed in lockdown and market value will reach \$320bn. World Economic Forum. https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/07/gamingpandemic-lockdowns-pwc-growth/
- Reis, D., Xanthopoulou, D., & Tsaousis, I. (2015). Measuring job and academic burnout with the Oldenburg Burnout Inventory (OLBI): factorial invariance across samples and countries. Burnout Research, 2(1), 8–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2014.11.001
- Rosen, S. (1981). The economics of superstars. American Economic Review, Vol. 71, No. 5. (Dec., 1981), pp. 845-858
- Ruffino, P., & Woodcock, J. (2021). Game Workers and the Empire: Unionisation in the UK Video Game Industry. Games and Culture, 16(3), 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412020947096
- Rykała, Piotr. (2020). The growth of the gaming industry in the context of creative industries. 20. 124-136. 10.15611/br.2020.1.10.
- Schreier, J. & Geek's Guide to the Galaxy. (2021, May 14). Making Video Games Is Not a Dream Job. WIRED. https://www.wired.com/2021/05/geeks-guide-jason-schreier/

- Semuels, A. (2019, June 11). "Every Game You Like Is Built on the Backs of Workers." Video Game Creators Are Burned Out and Desperate for Change. *Time*. https://time.com/5603329/e3-video-game-creators-union/
- Sinval, J., Sirgy, M. J., Lee, D.-J., & Marôco João. (2019). The quality of work life scale: validity evidence from Brazil and Portugal. Applied Research in Quality of Life: The Official Journal of the International Society for Quality-Of-Life Studies, 15(5), 1323– 1351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-019-09730-3
- Sirgy, M. J., Efraty, D., Siegel, P., & Lee, D.-J. (2001). A new measure of quality of work life (QWL) based on need satisfaction and spillover theories. Social Indicators Research, 55(3), 241–302. doi:10.1023/A:1010986923468
- Smith, R. (2018, February). The Dutch have the best work-life balance. Here's why [Online forum post]. weforum.org. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2018/02/the-dutch-have-the-best-work-life-balancehere-s-why/
- Spindler, E. (2022, April 27). Game studios pledge to improve industry conditions. GamesHub. https://www.gameshub.com/news/features/game-industry-pledges-to-improve-poorworking-conditions-16774/
- Statista. (2022, October 25). Number of video gamers worldwide 2021, by region. https://www.statista.com/statistics/293304/number-video-gamers/#statisticContainer

Sukamolson, Suphat. (2007). Fundamentals of quantitative research.

Swamy, D. R., Nanjundeswaraswamy, T. S., & Rashmi, S. (2015). Quality of work life: scale development and validation. *International Journal of Caring Sciences*, 8(2),281.

Tasdemir Afsar, S., & Burcu, E. (2014). The adaptation and validation of quality of work life

scale to turkish culture. Applied Research in Quality of Life : The Official Journal of the International Society for Quality-Of-Life Studies, 9(4), 897–910. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-013-9276-0

- The Art Basel and UBS Global Art Market Report 2023. (2023, May 9). Contemporary Art. https://www.ubs.com/global/en/our-firm/art/collecting/art-market-survey.html
- Thom, Marco (2016): *Fine artists' entrepreneurial business environment*, Working Paper, No. 06/16,Institut für Mittelstandsforschung (IfM) Bonn, Bon. https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/147986/1/872237214.pdf
- Throsby, D. (1994), 'A Work-Preference Model of Artist Labour Supply' in Peacock, A. and
  I. Rizzo(eds.), Cultural Economics and Cultural Policies, Boston/Dordrecht: Springer,
  pp. 69-80, reprinted in Towse, R. (ed.) (2007), Recent Developments in Cultural
  Economics, Cheltenham, UK and Northampton, MA, USA, Edward Elgar, pp. 397-408

Towse, R. (2006), 'Human Capital and Artists' Labour Markets', in Ginsburgh, V. and D.

- Tripp, S., Grueber, M., Simkins, J., & Yetter, D. (2021). Video games in the21st century : The 2020 Economic Impact Report. In *theesa.com*. The Entertainment Software Association. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://www.theesa.com/video-game-impact-map/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2020/12/Video-Games-in-the-21st-Century-2020-Economic-Impact-Report-Final.pdf
- UNI Global Union. (2022). The video game industry : A resource for organizers. In *uniglobalunion.org*. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://uniglobalunion.org/wp-content/uploads/Video\_Game\_Industry\_ENG-1.pdf
- Weststar, J. (2015). Understanding video game developers as an occupational community. Information, Communication & Amp; Society, 18(10), 1238–1252. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118x.2015.1036094

- Weststar, J., & Legault, M. J.(2017). Videogame developers among extreme workers: Are death marches over?.
   *E-Journal of International and Comparative Labour Studies*, 6(3), 1.
- Weststar, J. and Legault, Marie-Josee. (2017b). "Why might a video game developer join a union?" (2017). Management and Organizational Studies Publications. 17. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/mospub/17
- World Bank Open Data. (2022). World Bank Open Data. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.TOTL.FE.ZS?locations=NL
- World Health Organisation. (2019, May 28). Burn-out an "occupational phenomenon": International Classification of Diseases. *Who.Int*. Retrieved December 5, 2022, from https://www.who.int/news/item/28-05-2019-burn-out-an-occupational-phenomenoninternational-classification-of-diseases
- Zackariasson, P. & Wilson, Timothy. (2010). Creativity in the video game industry. Creativity: Fostering, Measuring and Contexts. 109-120. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289666502\_Creativity\_in\_the\_video\_game\_ industry

# Appendix A: Outline of variables

Variable Name	Description	Measure/Indicator
Gender	Gender	1: Male 2: Female 3: Non-binary 4: Others*
Age	Age range	1: Under 18 years 2: 18 to 24 years 3: 25 to 29 years 4: 30 to 34 years 5: 35 to 39 years 6: 40 to 49 years 7: 50 to 65 years 8: 66 years or older
Education	Education	<ol> <li>PhD</li> <li>Master</li> <li>Postgrad diploma</li> <li>Graduation</li> <li>Unfinished graduation</li> <li>High school, vocational or less</li> <li>Other</li> </ol>
Location*	Country of residence	Nominal
VGD status	Whether or not involved in the core video game development process	1: Yes 2: No
Employment status	Employment status	<ol> <li>Permanent full-time employee</li> <li>Permanent part-time employee</li> <li>Temporary full-time employee</li> <li>Temporary part-time employee</li> <li>Self-employed</li> <li>Freelancer</li> <li>Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>
Company Size	Number of workers in the organization	1: <10 2: 11-50 3: 51-100 4: 101-500 5: >500

A1: Outline of variables for socio-demographics and VGD overview

Company Type	Type of work done by the organisation	<ol> <li>AAA PC and console games</li> <li>Indie games</li> <li>Middle-ware company</li> <li>Localisation</li> <li>Mobile games</li> <li>Hardware</li> <li>Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>
Job Role	Current designation or role	Nominal
Company Name	Name of the company	Nominal
Experience - Industry	Range of years in working the industry	1: Less than 1 year 2: 1-3 years 3: 4-6 years 4: 7-10 years 5: More than 10 years
Experience - Company	Range of years working in the current organisation	1: Less than 1 year 2: 1-3 years 3: 4-6 years 4: 7-10 years 5: More than 10 years
Experience - Role	Range of years working in the current role	<ol> <li>Less than 1 year</li> <li>1-3 years</li> <li>3: 4-6 years</li> <li>4: 7-10 years</li> <li>5: More than 10 years</li> </ol>
Promotions	Number of promotions as a VGD	1: None 2: 1 3: 2 4: 3 5: 4 or more 6: Not applicable
Work schedule	Work schedule	<ol> <li>Regular or fixed hours</li> <li>Rotational shifts</li> <li>Irregular</li> <li>Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>
Work model	Work model	1: On-site 2: Hybrid 3: Remote 4: Other* (Nominal)
Compensation method	How is compensation determined	<ol> <li>Fixed salary and benefits</li> <li>Hourly rate</li> </ol>

		<ul><li>3: Project-based</li><li>4: Self-generated revenue</li><li>5: Other* (Nominal)</li></ul>
Hours worked	Hours worked per week	1: Less than 16 hours 2: 16 to 35 hours 3: 36 to 44 hours 4: 45 to 60 hours 5: More than 60 hours
Annual income	Annual income range	1: less than 14,000 euros 2: 14,000-22,000 euros 3: 22,000-38,000 euros 4: 38,000-50,000 euros 5: 50,000-60,000 euros 6: 60,000-72,000 euros 7: 72,000-100,000 euros 8: More than 100,000 euros 9: Other* (Nominal)

# A2.: Outline of the independent variable to measure working conditions.

Variable Name	Description	Measure
Low pay	Whether paid adequately	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Excessive hours	Whether worked excessive hours often	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Excessive workloads	Whether faced excessive workloads often	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Work environment	Whether faced micro-aggression/undue pressure or demands	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Health benefits	Whether offered adequate health (including mental) benefits	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Retirement benefits	Whether provided adequate retirement benefits	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Inadequate work support	Whether faced lack of access to training and/or software	1: Yes 2: No
		3: Not sure
------------------------------------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------------------------
Job security	Feeling of job security at current workplace	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Discrimination/Harrassment	Whether it is a workplace issue	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Discrimination/Harrassment experience	Whether faced or witnessed discrimination and/or harassment	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Sexual harassment experience	Whether faced or witnessed sexual harassment	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Employer response	Whether employer response to discrimination/harassment was adequate	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure

### A3.: Outline of variables for unionisation

Variable Name	Description	Measure/indicator
Union membership	Whether member of a union	1: Yes 2: No
Union name	Union name (optional)*	Nominal
Association membership	Whether member of a professional association	1: Yes 2: No
Association name	Association name (optional)*	Nominal
Union support at workplace	Whether support forming union at workplace	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Preferred union type	Type of union preferred	<ol> <li>A union at company/studio</li> <li>A national industry union</li> <li>Either</li> <li>Neither</li> </ol>
Union perception	Whether unionisation can be beneficial	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure

Union benefits	Perceived benefits unionisation	of	<ol> <li>Better pay and benefits</li> <li>Improved working conditions</li> <li>Increased job security</li> <li>None</li> <li>Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>
Union drawbacks	Perceived drawbacks unionisation	of	<ol> <li>1: Union fees and other costs</li> <li>2: Negative impact on game development/release schedules</li> <li>3: Lack of individuality</li> <li>4: None</li> <li>5: Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>

## A4.: Outline of variables for government support

Variable Name	Description	Measure/Indicator
Govt_support_Availabilty	Whether adequate government support is available	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Govt_support_Expectation	Whether more government support is required	1: Yes 2: No 3: Not sure
Govt_support_Type	Form of government support required	<ol> <li>Income tax breaks or incentives</li> <li>Grants or subsidies for independent VGDs</li> <li>Stronger intellectual property protection</li> <li>Other* (Nominal)</li> </ol>

# A5.: Outline of independent variables for QWLS

Variable Name	Description	Measure
Q48_1 to Q48_3	Health and safety needs ( <b>NShs)</b>	<ol> <li>Very untrue</li> <li>Untrue</li> <li>Somewhat untrue</li> <li>Neutral</li> <li>Somewhat True</li> <li>True</li> <li>Very True</li> </ol>
Q48_4 to Q48_6	Economic and family needs ( <b>NSef)</b>	
Q48_7 & Q48_8	Social needs ( <b>NSs)</b>	
Q48_9 & Q48_10	Esteem needs ( <b>NSt)</b>	

Q48_11 & Q48_12	Actualization needs(NSa)	
Q48_13 & Q48_14	Knowledge needs (NSk)	
Q48_15 & Q48_16	Aesthetic needs (NScs)	

### A6.: Outline of subscales and variables for OLBI

Subscale	Independent Variables	Measure
Disengagement	Q49_1, Q49_3, Q49_6, Q49_7, Q49_9, Q49_11, Q49_15	1: Strongly disagree
Exhaustion	Q49_2, Q49_4, Q49_5, Q49_8, Q49_10, Q49_12, Q49_14, Q49_16	<ul> <li>2: Disagree</li> <li>3: Neither agree nor disagree</li> <li>4: Agree</li> <li>5: Strongly Agree</li> </ul>

#### **Appendix B: Survey Introduction messages**

1. I am Swati Suman, a student at Erasmus University Rotterdam pursuing my master's degree in Cultural Economics and Entrepreneurship. As a part of my master's thesis, I am trying to understand the experiences and opinions of video game developers regarding their work and employment conditions.

For this, I have prepared a survey questionnaire that should take around 10 minutes to complete. I am inviting you to please take part in this survey to provide your valuable insights. This is an independent academic research and your participation will help shed light on the working conditions of video game developers. I believe such studies are necessary to highlight the realities of creative professionals in today's world.

I'd be really grateful if you could take a few minutes of your time and participate. Please find the link to the survey here:

If you have any questions or concerns please feel free to contact me at 541271ss@eur.nl. Thanking you in advance,

Swati Suman Student No. 541271 Erasmus University Rotterdam

2. Hello! I'm Swati Suman, a Master's student at Erasmus University Rotterdam. I'm conducting a research survey on video game developers. Kindly spare about 10 minutes to participate here: https://tinyurl.com/yv4wfxjs (Qualtrics link). For queries message or email me (541271ss@eur.nl). Thank you! :)

#### **Appendix C: Informal Discission – transcript**

Interviewer: Swati Suman

Interviewee: Martine Spaans (General manager at the Dutch Gaming Association and game

publisher at FGL & Tamalaki)

Date of Interview: 17.05.2023

Location: Online Zoom meeting

Time: 11.02 AM

**Interviewer:** Okay. Let me give you a brief wrap-up of what I have discovered so far. So, I have had about 200 responses for now. But I think about 170 180 of them are usable or valid. But generally speaking, the results show that the video game developers working in the Dutch videogame industry are about 75% male, and under the age of 34, they are typically well educated and about 85% are based in the Netherlands. Rest are primarily located in Argentina, Iran, Turkey and other European countries. About 1/3 of them are working as freelancers, or self-employed in some form. Also, only about 30% have over seven years of experience in that industry. Moreover, only about 50% of VGDs are in more than the Dutch median income of 38000 euros per month. And just about 47% of the workers said that they were adequately paid. In terms of organisation, I see that around 70% of the companies have less than 50 employees, and most commonly make AAA, PC and console games in the games and mobile games. However, web three games and serious games towards organisation and education also have a notable presence. So there is the general overview of the Dutch video game industry as per my findings, so do you think it gives a correct picture as per your experience as an industry representative? And anything that surprises you? Or stands out from that?

**Interviewee:** I think sort of generally in, in sort of the great lines of it, it does. Yeah, it does sort of match the expectations. That's also because of the games monitor that's been coming out. It's basically every two years. And yeah, it's like the full report is also about to come out really soon over to 2022, sort of 20 to 21 numbers. And in that report, we also saw for similar similar numbers. So yeah, in that sense, good to hear. That's that that's all aligned.

**Interviewer:** Okay, good to know. So, um, you have also done some volunteering, and you have been an ambassador coordinator for women in games. So what has been your experience

working in a male-dominated industry? And also, what can be done to improve women's participation in the industry?

Interviewee: Um, I think for me, personally, luckily, I've never really had any issues. But you know, I think we've all read the stories of women who had unfortunately faced some discrimination in their jobs. And I think overall, when you look at sort of other IT industries, you know, the games industry is still a little behind in terms of the female workforce basically. Like there's, there's, I think that our percentage of women working in games is a little bit lower than the percentage of working in other parts of IT. So there, I think there's still some work to do there. On the other hand, I think it is also kind of a cultural thing that will over time, sort of solve. Well, I wouldn't say be solved, but you know, will get better. And what I mean by that is, you know, when I grew up, having a console or PC was still more of a boys thing. But nowadays, that's just you know, when you look at the generation growing up now, it's not really the case anymore. It's not like Minecraft or Roblox is a boy or girl thing. You know, it's like it's basically for any kid who really enjoys it, or any adult who enjoys it, by the way. But, um, so in that sense, there's also at sort of the foundation of like how people are growing up, there's already more groundwork for women as well to really get interested in games and game design and building games. So I do think that we're going to see more of that also, for the next generation in like, what kind of education they're going to choose and what proficient they want to end up in.

**Interviewer:** Yeah, I myself, enjoy playing video video games, so I can totally understand your point. So my next question is, as I said that only 47% of respondents said that they feel that they are adequately paid, other than the other major workplace issue identified are excessive workloads which 24 percent said that they faced excessive workload and lack of health and retirement benefits and lack of access to training. So in addition, nearly 45% said that they were not very confident about job security. So in your opinion, what is that? And why is that and what remedial measures can be taken to improve that?

**Interviewee:** I forgot the percentage that you mentioned, but you also mentioned like, what percentage are freelancers or self-employed? Can you repeat how much that was?

Interviewer: 30%

Interviewee: It is because I do think that many of the things mentioned here are also kind of in line with entrepreneurship. You know, not saying that the 47%, for example, who say that they're indicative of inaccurately paid, are all self-employed. But I do think that being selfemployed in the games industry is a lot harder than being self-employed, as you know, for example, just a freelance programmer or IT consultant, things like that. And that's simply just because of the products that we make, you know, I mean, just making a game. Like, the chances of it being more profitable than doing a freelance job for a bank, for example, are very slim. But of course, that's, I guess, also, the thrill of working in the games industry, you know, you can score that hits, there's a chance that you do, and that's something that we go for. And I think it's also partly that we're working on fun products. That's why people generally do sort of get less, you know, accept lower wages, because, they do something that they really enjoy doing. And yeah, on the other hand, if people are really unhappy with the working conditions, then I don't think it's always in the power of the employer to immediately, help to improve those conditions. Because on that end, there's also funding issues. You know, that's to employ your employer to employ your staff better, of course, there has to be the right money for it, and the same for the benefits and for like to work pressure. So I do think that is yeah, just like parts off. So working in an entertainment industry. But I also do think that those working conditions can be improved quite a bit if we, for example, got more support for our industry from like tax break programmes or government funding programmes.

**Interviewer:** Okay. So the next question is, while a very small percentage of respondents said that the discrimination or harassment is an issue and their current workplace, nearly 10 to 15%, said that they have experienced or witnessed some form of discrimination or harassment, or sexual harassment in the industry, and around 8% Identify micro-aggression, or undue pressure at workplace. So I wanted to understand should we be happy that the numbers are seemingly low in Dutch companies? Or should we be more concerned about the presence of these issues? And from your past experience? Would you say that the situation has improved?

**Interviewee:** Well, since it's clearly still an issue for a minority, I wouldn't say that I'm happy with these numbers. I would be happy if they'd be zero. But, you know, I do think that generally speaking, it's gotten better. In the past, basically, yeah, maybe too fast, like five to seven years. Whereas things like the "me-too movement" have made a difference because they brought more awareness. I mean, you know, just to basically illustrate it, 15 years ago, whenever, as a woman, you had a bad day at work, it would be sort of normal to get, you know, things saying

like, Oh, are you having your periods, you know, and nowadays in 2023, you can no longer imagine that your coworkers say something like that. And if they do, then people around you who hear it also be like, that's not okay to say, you know, it sounds like it's, yeah. So things like that no longer are accepted. Whereas when I started, my career was still sort of part of the work floor culture basically. So I do think that things have gotten better, but I don't think that we're quite there yet. I do think that there's definitely still more room for improvement.

**Interviewer:** Okay, so let's talk about unionisation and representation the survey results show that only a few of the respondents are union members, but even they are not based in the Netherlands only 15% are members of associations like DGA, DGG. Game Baker etc. But when asked if they support unionisation 45% said yes. And 40% said that they were not so sure. Separately, more than 60% Believe unionisation and representation would benefit the industry. But again 32% said that they were not so sure. So it seems that there is a little opposition to the concept, but at the same time, there is a severe lack of awareness about these issues. And there are pros and cons. What is your perspective on that? Do you think that there is a need to educate VGD is more about unionisation and representation?

Interviewee: Um, I think there's sort of a natural reluctance when, when it comes to more, yeah, providing more structure to things like that. Also, for example, recently, it's been in the news that all you know, like everyone who is self-employed, even if you just have a one-person business that you should have, you know, like the risk of not being able to work anymore, and then insuring yourself against that, that risk, basically, I'm gonna look up the English word for that. But the problem, for example, with solutions like that, it's kind of trying to, you know, fit a square peg into a round hole sometimes, like, it's not sort of the, the fitting solution, like not customised to, you know, whoever, whatever job this person has. So for example, someone who is a freelance, let's say a painter, you know, someone who is like working on painting houses all day long, they probably have a much bigger risk at falling at their job and getting injured than someone who like me who's sitting behind their desk all day long, I could fall off my chair, but I'm probably not going to break something. You know, so I think there's sort of a reluctance in sort of solutions like that. Because it can also bring some downsides to it. But if this is explored more and in more detail, and sort of more fitting to the Dutch gaming industry, where, you know, it's not to forget that we're kind of at this crossroads of sort of it, but also the cultural sector. So, you know, for example, if we would fit under some union, would it be for artists? Or would it be for the computer industry, you know, things like that.

So, I do think that we would need as a game industry more of a sort of customised solution before there is more interest from the industry to really adopt something like it.

**Interviewer:** Okay, so do you think professional associations like DGA are an effective substitute for the absence of unions? How can professional associations gain more relevance for the VGDs?

**Interviewee:** Substitute I don't know. But you know, we try to do the best we can on all sorts of fronts. So you know, it can be very practical, for example, to set up a delegation representation at a conference like games comm where we have like a big Dutch pavilion. So really, sort of concrete examples like that. On the other hand, we as the DGA are also lobbying, we do some lobbying efforts for our governments to really set up a game fund, to kind of and that's not only to its kind of help, it helps to strengthen the position of the Dutch game industry when you look at countries around us. So for example, Germany has a 70 million game fund Belgium has a 50 million game funds and the Netherlands currently has nothing. So, you know, we as the DGA kind of see it as our role to stand up for that and make sure that we are heard and we are seen by the government and that they also see the benefits of setting up a Dutch game fund and how it can really help to not only grow the industry, but also grow the quality of the products of the games, and how that can sort of benefit society as well. I forgot your second question.

**Interviewer:** The second question was how can professional associations gain more relevance for the VGDs

**Interviewee:** Alright, um, I think also being more visible and also listening a lot to what your members want out of it. You know, like some members purely only join because they see direct benefits of for example, like some group discounts that we arrange, other benefits can other members kind of see more of these sort of big picture benefits. like, for example, the lobbying efforts that we do, and they understand that it's going to take years before we get where we want to be, but they just want to be in support for sort of that trajectory that we're going through. So that, I mean, it really depends also on what your members want. And I would really only advise anyone try to sort of set up a trade association like us to just listen.

**Interviewer:** Okay, that's very interesting to know. Since you talked about game funds in Germany, are there any other specific policies implemented in other countries, which could be beneficial for the Dutch market?

**Interviewee:** Yeah, it's, I mean, I'm not sort of well-versed in all the details of it. But for example, I do know that in the UK, there are some very interesting tax breaks, also for thinking mainly interesting and applicable for companies that are scaling up and really growing their workforce. And yeah, again currently in the Netherlands, there's nothing like that. But what we should remember is that, maybe not so much the UK. But when you look at other countries within the EU, it's just very easy for Dutch studios to say like, well, we don't like how it's arranged in the Netherlands right now. But let's have a look in Germany and Finland and Sweden wherever in where it's so easy to travel to, and then set up the company there, and then benefit from the programmes that are in place there.

**Interviewer:** Okay, so in terms of government support, only 7% believe there is adequate support available, and 68% said that the government should do more for industrial workers. So in your opinion, what additional role should the government play in support of supporting the working conditions of video game developers other than tax breaks, etc.

**Interviewee:** I think there's, there's a lot still to do. You know, like the game fund, for example, that I just mentioned, that could be something that really could make it easier for developers to set up sort of newer, more innovative and challenging projects. If, you know, we're for something like that we, for example, look at match funding from the governments, where we don't sort of expect the, to just like, you know, back, give the financial backing to do anything, but really, to projects that prove that they have sort of these commercial viability as well. There has been in the past, also more of a focus from the governments on applied games, like games that serve also a purpose in terms of like, training, or rehabilitation, or, you know, working with trauma and things like that. And that's great as well. But I think that usually underestimates also the importance of entertainment games, and especially for the next generations to come, where gaming is just like, it's such a part of just everyday life. And in that sense, might be more important to that generation than, for example, you know, sort of other other ways of screen entertainment.

**Interviewer:** Have you observed any efforts or initiative within the Dutch videogame industry to support unionisation or raise awareness about the collective bargaining? If yes, could you provide some example and discuss their impact?

**Interviewee:** We've never really sort of much talked about specifically unionisation, because there's already so many other sort of hurdles who want to take first. In that sense, there's still a lot to do. And we're saying we're taking it step by step.

**Interviewer:** Okay, so. So the final question is that this is a question in the context of post COVID working models. So the data shows that only about 15% of VGDs have a completely on site role. And the other 85% either have a remote or hybrid working model. Considering that there is a renewed focus on getting workers back to offices. Do you think we will see a return of VGDs to Office offices? Or is the current status quo expected to continue?

**Interviewee:** Working in the game industry. I expect this to continue. I also see it in job vacancies that are open right now when there is in the vacancy mentioned that hybrid work is possible. And I think the games industry is also a really sort of industry that fits that model very well. I mean, of course, there is always going to be a little bit of work that really requires people to be together in an office. But I mean, I think a majority of the work can also be done from home. Where Of course, it's also important to then make sure that the workplace at home is also very much suitable as a workplace. And that people don't feel like they sort of need to work from a kitchen table surrounded by all kinds of distractions. But you know, like, when, when speaking with manager of game studios, I kind of hear also that there's lots of initiatives to make sure that people can also really comfortably work from home, in the right setup, and with the right materials.